# POISSON BOUNDARIES OF FINITE VON NEUMANN ALGEBRAS

By

Sayan Das

Dissertation

Submitted to the Faculty of the

Graduate School of Vanderbilt University

in partial fulfillment of the requirements

for the degree of

# DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

in

Mathematics

August 11, 2017

Nashville, Tennessee

Approved:

Jesse D. Peterson, Ph.D. Vaughan F.R. Jones, Ph.D. Dietmar Bisch, Ph.D. Akram Aldroubi, Ph.D. Robert Scherrer, Ph.D. To my parents,

for never ending support

## ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

First, I would like to express my deepest gratitude to my advisors, Dr. Jesse Peterson and Dr. Vaughan F.R. Jones, for all of their guidance, collaboration, and support throughout my time at Vanderbilt. Through courses, discussions, and research projects, both have not only introduced me to a great deal of mathematics, but they have also shaped my identity as a mathematician and researcher. I would also like to thank the remaining members of my Ph.D. committee, Dr. Dietmar Bisch, Dr. Akram Aldroubi, and Dr. Robert Scherrer for taking the time to review my disseration.

I am grateful for everyone I have had an opportunity to work with during this and other projects. Specifically, Dr. Ionut Chifan, for his support and collaboration, Dr. Ben Hayes and Dr. Thomas Sinclair for their helpful remarks on parts of my joint work with Dr. Peterson. I would like to express my deepest thanks to Dr. Darren Creutz for explaining the theory of Poisson boundaries of groups to me, and for many helpful remarks and stimulating conversations throughout my PhD career.

Additionally, I would like to convey my sincere appreciation to my fellow graduate students, my friends in Nashville and India, and the math department staff at Vanderbilt. The graduate students have helped to make this journey fun and exciting, and the staff has been overwhelmingly helpful in so many different ways. I couldn't have finished this journey without the support and encouragement of my friends.

I would also like to express my gratitude to my teachers starting from Kindergarten all through my PhD years. Their support, encouragement, love inspired me throughout my life.

Finally, none of this work would have been possible without my family. I am eternally thankful to my parents for their support of my studies and for setting an example for me.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

Pa	ge
DEDICATION	ii
ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	iii
Chapters	
1 INTRODUCTION	1
1.0.1 Poisson boundaries of groups	2
1.0.2 Poisson boundary of finite von Neumann algebras	4
2 PRELIMINARIES	5
2.0.1 von Neumann algebras, u.c.p. maps and amenability	5
3 BOUNDARIES OF FINITE VON NEUMANN ALGEBRAS	7
3.1 Hyperstates and bimodular u.c.p. maps	7
3.1.1 Poisson boundaries of $II_1$ factors	9
3.1.2 Construction of the boundary	15
3.2 Bi-harmonic operators	17
3.3 Entropy	20
3.3.1 Asymptotic entropy	20
3.3.2 A Furstenberg type entropy	23
3.4 An entropy gap for property (T) factors	32
3.5 Rigidity for u.c.p. maps on the boundary	35
BIBLIOGRAPHY	38

#### Chapter 1

## INTRODUCTION

The study of group actions (on spaces) and group representations occupies a central position in modern mathematics. This relates naturally to the study of von Neumann algebras, as we shall describe. A von Neumann algebra is a \*-subalgebra of  $\mathscr{B}(\mathscr{H})$  (bounded linear operators on a Hilbert space  $\mathscr{H}$ ), containing I (the identity operator), and is closed under the strong operator topology, abbreviated SOT.(SOT can be thought as "topology of pointwise convergence": a net of bounded operators  $T_{\alpha}$  converges in SOT to a bounded operator T if and only if  $||(T_{\alpha} - T)\psi|| \rightarrow 0$  for all  $\psi \in \mathscr{H}$ ). A von Neumann algebra M is called a *factor* if the only operators commuting with all of M are scalar multiples of identity. (i.e.  $\mathscr{L}(M) = M \cap M' = \mathbb{C}$ . Here M' denotes the *commutant* of M inside  $\mathscr{B}(\mathscr{H})$ ). We say M is a type  $H_1$  factor if M is infinite dimensional, and has a faithful tracial state, denoted by  $\tau$ . In general, if a von Neumann algebra admits a faithful tracial state  $\tau$ , we say that M is a *finite* von Neumann algebra.

Some examples of von Neumann algebras are  $L^{\infty}[0,1]$ ,  $\mathbb{M}_n(\mathbb{C})$ , or more generally  $\mathscr{B}(\mathscr{H})$ . Note that  $L^{\infty}[0,1]$  is an abelian algebra, while the other two are factors. As it turns out, every abelian von Neumann algebra (on a separable Hilbert space) is isomorphic to  $L^{\infty}(X,\mu)$  for some measure space  $(X,\mu)$ . Hence the study of von Neumann algebras can be thought of as a noncommutative measure theory. Other exciting examples of von Neumann algebras are constructed via group representations and actions, as described below.

The first examples of von Neumann algebras different from the above examples was the so called group von Neumann algebras of discrete groups. Given a countable, discrete group G, we define vN(G) to be the SOT closure of the group algebra,  $\mathbb{C}(G)$  inside  $\mathscr{B}(\ell^2 G)$ . This von Neumann algebra is a factor if and only if the group is i.c.c. (i.e. every non identity element has infinite conjugacy class. The i.c.c. conditions tells that the group is "highly noncommutative").

Also, whenever a group G acts a probability measure space  $(X, \mu)$ , we can construct a von

Neumann algebra, denoted by  $L^{\infty}(X,\mu) \rtimes G$ . If the *G* action on  $(X,\mu)$  is measure preserving, free and ergodic, then we obtain a  $H_1$  factor. Also, the algebra  $L^{\infty}(X,\mu) \rtimes G$  provides a natural setting for studying the underlying group action. In fact, the dynamics of group actions has an exciting relation with studying this algebra. Thus many questions in ergodic theory and group representations can be studied naturally in the von Neumann algebra context. This mutual symbiosis has been a very active area of research for more than 50 years.

To study analytic properties of a group, like amenability and property (T), it's desirable to look for "nice" spaces on which the group acts. Poisson boundary of a group,  $(\mathcal{B}, \beta)$ , provides a natural example of such a probability measure space, on which the group acts. In general, the actions is not measure preserving: in fact, in the case of non-amenable groups, the action on its Poisson boundary can never be measure preserving. (Nevertheless,  $L^{\infty}(\mathcal{B}, \beta) \rtimes G$  is a factor as soon as vN(G) is a factor, i.e. G is i.c.c). As we shall see below, the study of Poisson boundaries of groups has been an exciting research area, and has led to a variety of deep results in the rigidity theory of lattices in Lie groups, including the celebrated Normal Subgroup Theorem of Margulis.

## 1.0.1 Poisson boundaries of groups

The notion for Poisson boundary of groups was introduced by Fustenberg to study Harmonic analysis over Lie groups. He was motivated by the Poisson transform in the classical complex analysis. In the classical case, any real valued bounded harmonic function h on the disc can be written in terms of a bounded function f on the boundary of  $\mathbb{D}$ . Notice that the group  $G = PSL_2(\mathbb{R})$  acts on  $\mathbb{D}$ . Then, every bounded harmonic function h on  $\mathbb{D}$  determines a bounded harmonic function (see definition below)  $\hat{h}$  on G, by  $\hat{h}(g) = h(g(0))$ . In fact, every bounded harmonic function on Garises in this fashion. So, there's a one-one correspondence between bounded harmonic function on G and bounded functions on the unit circle. This was the main motivation for Furstenberg to study the notion of "boundary" of a Lie group, such that bounded harmonic functions on the group would be in one-one correspondence with bounded functions on this "boundary". As it turned out, the notion could be generalized to arbitrary locally compact groups, and the study of the Poisson boundary has been a beautiful area of research henceforth. In the treatment below, we shall focus on discrete groups and follow the perspective of Kaimanovich and Vershik [KV83]

Let *G* be a discrete group, and  $\mu$  a symmetric probability measure of *G*. We say that  $f \in \ell^{\infty}(G)$  is  $\mu$ -harmonic if  $P_{\mu}f = f$ , where  $P_{\mu}f(g) = \sum_{x \in G} f(gx)\mu(x)$ .

Even though the space of  $\mu$ -harmonic functions doesn't form an algebra, in general, it's possible to define a product on the space of harmonic functions to make it into a commutative von Neumann algebra. The space of harmonic functions with this new product then becomes isomorphic to  $L^{\infty}(\mathcal{B},\beta)$ , for some probability measure space  $(B,\beta)$ - which we call the Poisson boundary of the group *G*. There is a natural *G* action on this space, which preserves the  $\beta$  null sets, i.e. is quasi-invariant. The measure  $\beta$  is  $\mu$ -stationary, (i.e.  $\mu * \beta = \beta$ ) and the *G* action is amenable, (i.e.  $L^{\infty}(\mathcal{B},\beta) \rtimes G$  is an amenable von Neumann algebra).

For the case of the free group on 2 generators,  $\mathbb{F}_2 = \langle a, b \rangle$ , with the uniform probability measure  $\mu$  on  $a, a^{-1}, b, b^{-1}$ , the Poisson boundary can be identified with the space of one sided infinite reduced words, with a natural Borel probability measure. This example hints that the Poisson boundary can be thought of as an "exit boundary" for random walks on the Cayley graph of *G*. Indeed, such is the case, (see [KV83]). Therefore the study of Poisson boundaries has natural interactions with the study of random walks on groups as well.

One of the most striking application of Poisson boundaries was by Margulis' in his proof of the Normal subgroup theorem ([Mar78] [Mar79]). The Normal Subgroup Theorem states that: If H is a lattice in a center free higher rank semisimple Lie group G, then every nontrivial normal subgroup N of H has finite index. His strategy of showing the finiteness of the quotient H/N was to show that it's amenable, and has property (T). The amenability half of the result relied on looking at the action of G on its Poisson boundary (which is an amenable action). As we shall see, this was one of the key motivations to study Poisson boundary in the noncommutative setting.

#### 1.0.2 Poisson boundary of finite von Neumann algebras

Based on the Mostow rigidity theorem [Mos73], Margulis' superrigidity theorem, and Zimmer's cocycle rigidity theorem [Zim80], Alain Connes' suggested in the early 80's that to study superrigidity type phenomenon in operator algebra setting, one should first study Poisson boundaries in the setting of operator algebras (see discussion in page 86 of [Jon00]).

In late 90's Izumi realized that the notion of Poisson boundaries for groups can be extended to the von Neumann algebra setting by studying fixed points of u.c.p. maps (defined below). Izumi introduced this notion in [Izu99], and extended the theory further in [Izu02] and [Izu12]. Later Peterson and Creutz studied the noncommutative boundary in depth in [CP13] and used it to prove the amenability half of the noncommutative analog of Margulis' Normal subgroup theorem.

Motivated by the above, in [DP17] we focus on the study of Poisson Boundary of finite von Neumann algebras arising from regular, symmetric, hyperstates. The contents of this Thesis is based on the joint work with Dr. Peterson in [DP17]

#### Chapter 2

#### PRELIMINARIES

In this section we record a few preliminaries needed for the rest of the paper.

2.0.1 von Neumann algebras, u.c.p. maps and amenability

A von Neumann algebra M is a \*-subalgebra of  $\mathscr{B}(\mathscr{H})$ , containing 1, and closed under the strong operator topology. Recall that  $\mathscr{B}(\mathscr{H})$  carries three natural topologies, namely, the norm topology, the strong operator topology and the weak operator topology. A deep theorem of von Neumann states that if M is a von Neumann algebra, then M equals its double commutant, i.e. M = M''. Throughout this paper we shall assume that M acts on a separable Hilbert space.

A linear functional  $\varphi$  on M is said to be *normal* if there exists  $\xi, \eta \in \mathscr{H} \otimes \ell^2(\mathbb{N})$  such that  $\Phi(T) = \langle T \otimes I\xi, \eta \rangle$ . A linear functional  $\varphi$  is said to be a state, if it is positive, and  $\Phi(1) = 1$ . A state  $\tau$  on M is said to be tracial is  $\tau(ab) = \tau(ba)$  for all  $a, b \in M$ .

We say that *M* is a finite von Neumann algebra, or a tracial von Neumann algebra, if there exists a faithful, normal tracial state  $\tau$  on *M*. Given such a state we can perform the GNS construction, and get a Hilbert space, denoted by  $L^2(M, \tau)$  or sometimes  $L^2(M)$  if  $\tau$  is fixed. A finite von Neumann algebra *M* is a factor if and only if it admits a unique tracial state  $\tau$ .

An operator system  $\mathscr{B}$  is a \*-closed linear subspace of a unital  $C^*$  algebra  $\mathscr{A}$ , containing 1. We say a map  $\Phi : \mathscr{B} \to \mathscr{A}$  is positive, if it takes positive elements of  $\mathscr{B}$  to positive elements os  $\mathscr{A}$ . We say  $\Phi$  is unital, if  $\Phi(1) = 1$ . Such a map  $\Phi$  induces linear maps  $\Phi_n$  from  $\mathscr{B} \otimes \mathbb{M}_n(\mathbb{C}) \to \mathscr{B} \otimes \mathbb{M}_n(\mathbb{C})$ , by acting on each matrix coordinate. We say that  $\Phi$  is completely positive, if  $\Phi_n$  is positive for all  $n \in \mathbb{N}$ . We say that  $\Phi$  is normal, if  $\varphi \circ \Phi$  is normal, for all normal linear functionals  $\varphi$ .

One example of normal u.c.p. map is given by unital homomorphisms between  $C^*$  algebras. In fact, Stinespring Dilation theorem says that, up to dilation, those are the only examples.

A very imporant class of examples of u.c.p. maps are *Conditional Expectations*. Let  $\mathscr{B}$  be an operator system in  $\mathscr{B}(\mathscr{H})$ . A map  $\mathscr{E} : \mathscr{B}(\mathscr{H}) \to \mathscr{B}$  is said to be a conditional expectation, if it's u.c.p., and  $\mathscr{E} \circ \mathscr{E} = \mathscr{E}$ . In that case,  $\mathscr{B}$  is said to be an injective operator system. A von Neumann algebra *M* is said to be amenable, if it is injective as an operator system. A deep theorem of Connes' asserts that *M* is injective, if and only if, *M* is *hyperfinite*.

## Chapter 3

#### BOUNDARIES OF FINITE VON NEUMANN ALGEBRAS

In this chapter we record the main results and proofs of the thesis. The results here are from the joint work in [DP17], with Dr. Peterson.

#### 3.1 Hyperstates and bimodular u.c.p. maps

Fix a tracial von Neumann algebra  $(M, \tau)$ , and suppose we have an embedding  $M \subset \mathscr{A}$  where  $\mathscr{A}$  is a  $C^*$ -algebra. Given a state  $\varphi \in \mathscr{A}^*$  we will say that  $\varphi$  is a  $\tau$ -hyperstate (or just a hyperstate if  $\tau$  is fixed) if it extends  $\tau$ . We denote by  $\mathscr{S}_{\tau}(\mathscr{A})$  the convex set of all hyperstates on  $\mathscr{A}$ . To each a hyperstate  $\varphi$  we obtain a natural inclusion  $L^2(M, \tau) \subset L^2(\mathscr{A}, \varphi)$  induced from the map  $x1_{\tau} \mapsto x1_{\varphi}$  for  $x \in M$ . We let  $e_M \in \mathscr{B}(L^2(\mathscr{A}, \varphi))$  denote the orthogonal projection onto  $L^2(M, \tau)$ . We may then consider the unital completely positive (u.c.p.) map  $\mathscr{P}_{\varphi} : \mathscr{A} \to \mathscr{B}(L^2(M, \tau))$ , defined by

$$\mathscr{P}_{\varphi}(T) = e_M T e_M, \quad T \in \mathscr{A}.$$
 (3.1)

Note that if  $x \in M \subset \mathscr{A}$  then we have  $\mathscr{P}_{\varphi}(x) = x$ . We shall refer to the map  $\mathscr{P}_{\varphi}$  as the **Poisson** transform (with respect to  $\varphi$ ) of the inclusion  $M \subset \mathscr{A}$ .

The following proposition is well known, and implicit in [Con76b]. We include a proof for the benefit of the reader.

**Proposition 3.1.1.** The correspondence  $\varphi \mapsto \mathscr{P}_{\varphi}$  defined by (3.1) gives a bijective correspondence between hyperstates on M, and u.c.p., M-bimodular maps from  $\mathscr{A}$  to  $\mathscr{B}(L^2(M, \tau))$ . Moreover, if  $\mathscr{A}$  is a von Neumann algebra, then  $\mathscr{P}_{\varphi}$  is normal if and only if  $\varphi$  is normal.

Also, this corresondence is a homeomorphism where the space of hyperstates is endowed with the weak\*-topology, and the space of u.c.p., M-bimodular maps with the topology of pointwise weak operator topology convergence. *Proof.* First note that if  $\varphi$  is a hyperstate on  $\mathscr{A}$ , then for all  $T \in \mathscr{A}$  we have

$$\varphi(T) = \langle T, \hat{1} \rangle_{\varphi} = \langle \mathscr{P}_{\varphi}(T) \hat{1}, \hat{1} \rangle_{\tau}.$$

From this it follows that the correspondence  $\varphi \mapsto \mathscr{P}_{\varphi}$  is one-to-one. To see that it is onto, suppose that  $\mathscr{P} : \mathscr{A} \to \mathscr{B}(L^2(M, \tau))$  is u.c.p. and *M*-bimodular. We define a state  $\varphi$  on  $\mathscr{A}$  by  $\varphi(T) = \langle \mathscr{P}(T)\hat{1}, \hat{1} \rangle_{\tau}$ . For all  $y \in M$  we then have  $\varphi(y) = \langle \mathscr{P}(y)\hat{1}, \hat{1} \rangle_{\tau} = \tau(y)$ , hence  $\varphi$  is a hyperstate. Moreover, if  $y, z \in M$ , and  $T \in \mathscr{A}$  then we have

$$\langle \mathscr{P}_{\varphi}(T)y, z \rangle_{\tau} = \langle \mathscr{P}_{\varphi}(z^*Ty)\hat{1}, \hat{1} \rangle$$

$$= \varphi(z^*Ty) = \langle \mathscr{P}(T)y, z \rangle_{\tau},$$

$$(3.2)$$

hence,  $\mathscr{P}_{\varphi} = \mathscr{P}$ .

It is also easy to check that  $\mathscr{P}_{\varphi}$  is normal if and only if  $\varphi$  is.

To see that this correspondence is a homeomorphism when given the topologies above, suppose that  $\varphi$  is a hyperstate, and  $\varphi_{\alpha}$  is a net of hyperstates. From (3.2) and the fact that u.c.p. maps are contractions in norm we see that  $\mathscr{P}_{\varphi_{\alpha}}$  converges in the pointwise weak operator topology to  $\mathscr{P}_{\varphi}$ if  $\varphi_{\alpha}$  converges weak<sup>\*</sup> to  $\varphi$ . Conversely, setting y = z = 1 in (3.2) shows that if  $\mathscr{P}_{\varphi_{\alpha}}$  converges in the pointwise weak operator topology to  $\mathscr{P}_{\varphi}$  then  $\varphi_{\alpha}$  converges weak<sup>\*</sup> to  $\varphi$ .

Considering the case  $\mathscr{A} = \mathscr{B}(L^2(M, \tau))$  we see that to each hyperstate on  $\mathscr{B}(L^2(M, \tau))$  we obtain a u.c.p. *M*-bimodular map on  $\mathscr{B}(L^2(M, \tau))$ . In particular, composing such maps gives a convolution operation on the space of hyperstates. More generally, if  $\mathscr{A}$  is a *C*<sup>\*</sup>-algebra, with  $M \subset \mathscr{A}$ , then for hyperstates  $\psi \in \mathscr{A}^*$ , and  $\varphi \in \mathscr{B}(L^2(M, \tau))^*$  we define the **convolution**  $\varphi * \psi$  to be the unique hyperstate on  $\mathscr{A}$  such that

$$\mathscr{P}_{\varphi*\psi} = \mathscr{P}_{\varphi} \circ \mathscr{P}_{\psi}. \tag{3.3}$$

We say that  $\psi$  is  $\varphi$ -stationary if we have  $\varphi * \psi = \psi$ , or equivalently, if  $\mathscr{P}_{\psi}$  maps into the space

of  $\mathscr{P}_{\varphi}$ -harmonic operators

$$\operatorname{Har}(\mathscr{B}(L^2(M,\tau)),\mathscr{P}_{\varphi}) = \{T \in \mathscr{B}(L^2(M,\tau)) \mid \mathscr{P}_{\varphi}(T) = T\}.$$

**Lemma 3.1.2.** For a fixed  $\psi \in \mathscr{S}_{\tau}(\mathscr{A})$  the mapping

$$\mathscr{S}_{\tau}(\mathscr{B}(L^2(M,\tau)) \ni \boldsymbol{\varphi} \mapsto \boldsymbol{\varphi} * \boldsymbol{\psi} \in \mathscr{S}_{\tau}(\mathscr{A})$$

is continuous in the weak\*-topology.

Moreover, if  $\varphi \in \mathscr{B}(L^2(N, \tau))_*$  is a fixed normal hyperstate, then the mapping

$$\mathscr{S}_{\tau}(\mathscr{A}) \ni \psi \mapsto \phi * \psi \in \mathscr{S}_{\tau}(\mathscr{A})$$

is also weak\*-continuous.

*Proof.* By Proposition 3.1.1 the correspondence  $\varphi \mapsto \mathscr{P}_{\varphi}$  is a homeomorphism from the weak\*topology to the topology of pointwise weak operator topology convergence, this lemma then follows easily from (3.3).

## 3.1.1 Poisson boundaries of $H_1$ factors

If  $\varphi \in \mathscr{S}_{\tau}(\mathscr{B}(L^2(M, \tau)))$  is a hyperstate then we define the **Poisson boundary**  $B_{\varphi}$  of M with respect to  $\varphi$  to be the noncommutative Poisson boundary of the u.c.p. map  $\mathscr{P}_{\varphi}$  as defined by Izumi [Izu02] (see the next section for an explicit construction).

The Poisson boundary contains M as a subalgebra and the inclusion  $(M \subset B_{\varphi})$  is determined up to isomorphism by the property that there exists a completely positive isometric isomorphism  $\mathscr{P}: B_{\varphi} \to \operatorname{Har}(\mathscr{B}(L^{2}(M, \tau)), \mathscr{P}_{\varphi})$  which restricts to the identity map on M. We will always assume that  $\mathscr{P}$  is fixed and we also call  $\mathscr{P}$  the **Poisson transform**.

Given any initial hyperstate  $\varphi_0 \in \mathscr{S}_{\tau}(\mathscr{B}(L^2(M, \tau)))$  we may consider the hyperstate given by  $\varphi_0 \circ \mathscr{P}$  on  $B_{\varphi}$ . Of particular interest is the state  $\eta$  on  $B_{\varphi}$  arising from the initial state  $x \mapsto \langle x \hat{1}, \hat{1} \rangle$ ,

which we call the **stationary state** on  $B_{\varphi}$ . In this case it is easy to see that we have  $\mathscr{P}_{\eta} = \mathscr{P}$ , and hence  $\varphi * \eta = \eta$ .

**Proposition 3.1.3.** Let  $(M, \tau)$  be a tracial von Neumann algebra and take  $\varphi \in \mathscr{S}_{\tau}(\mathscr{B}(L^2(M, \tau)))$ , then the Poisson boundary  $B_{\varphi}$  is injective.

*Proof.* If we take any cluster point E of in the topology of pointwise weak operator topology convergence, then  $E : \mathscr{B}(L^2(M,\tau)) \to \operatorname{Har}(\mathscr{B}(L^2(M,\tau)), \mathscr{P}_{\varphi})$  gives a conditional expectation. As  $B_{\varphi}$  is isomorphic to  $\operatorname{Har}(\mathscr{B}(L^2(M,\tau)), \mathscr{P}_{\varphi})$  as an operator system it then follows that  $B_{\varphi}$  is injective.

The trivial case is when  $\varphi_e(x) = \langle x1, 1 \rangle_{\tau}$  in which case we have that  $\mathscr{P}_{\varphi_e} = \text{id}$ , and the Poisson boundary is nothing but  $\mathscr{B}(L^2(M, \tau))$ . Note that  $\varphi_e$  gives an identity with respect to convolution. Also note that if  $\varphi \in \mathscr{B}(L^2(M, \tau))^*$  is a hyperstate, then we have a description of the space of harmonic operators as:

$$\operatorname{Har}(\mathscr{B}(L^2(M,\tau)),\mathscr{P}_{\varphi}) = \{T \in \mathscr{B}(L^2(M,\tau)) \mid \varphi(aTb) = \varphi_e(aTb) \text{ for all } a, b \in M\}.$$

Since  $\mathscr{P}_{\varphi}$  is *M*-bimodular it follows that  $\mathscr{P}_{\varphi}(M') \subset M'$ . We say that  $\varphi$  is **regular** if the restriction of  $\mathscr{P}_{\varphi}$  to *M'* preserves the canonical trace on *M'*, and we say that  $\varphi$  is **generating** if *M* is the largest \*-subalgebra of  $\mathscr{B}(L^2(M, \tau))$  which is contained in  $\operatorname{Har}(\mathscr{B}(L^2(M, \tau)), \mathscr{P}_{\varphi})$ . If  $\varphi$  is regular, then the **conjugate** of  $\varphi$  is given by  $\varphi^*(T) = \varphi(JT^*J)$ , which is again a hyperstate. We'll say that  $\varphi$  is **symmetric** if it is regular and we have  $\varphi^* = \varphi$ .

Regular, generating, symmetric hyperstates are easy to find. Suppose  $(M, \tau)$  is a separable finite von Neumann algebra with a faithful normal trace  $\tau$ . We consider the unit ball  $(M)_1$  of M as a Polish space endowed with the weak operator topology, and suppose we have a  $\sigma$ -finite measure  $\mu$  on  $(M)_1$  such that  $\int x^* x d\mu(x) = 1$ . We obtain a normal hyperstate as

$$\varphi(T) = \int \langle T \widehat{x^*}, \widehat{x^*} \rangle \, d\mu(x) \tag{3.4}$$

and using (3.2) we may explicitly compute the Poisson transform  $\mathscr{P}_{\varphi}$  on  $\mathscr{B}(L^2(M, \tau))$  as

$$\mathscr{P}_{\varphi}(T) = \int (Jx^*J)T(JxJ)\,d\mu(x).$$

**Proposition 3.1.4.** *Consider*  $\varphi$  *as given by* (3.4)*, then* 

- 1.  $\varphi$  is generating if and only if the support of  $\mu$  generates M as a weakly closed subalgebra of  $\mathscr{B}(L^2(M, \tau))$  containing the identity.
- 2.  $\varphi$  is regular if and only if  $\int xx^* d\mu(x) = 1$ .
- 3. If  $\varphi$  is regular then  $\mathscr{P}_{\varphi^*}(T) = \int (JxJ)T(Jx^*J) d\mu(x)$  and  $\varphi$  is symmetric if  $J_*\mu = \mu$ , where J is the adjoint operation.

*Proof.* If the support of  $\mu$  generates a weakly closed subalgebra  $M_0$  containing the identity such that  $M_0 \neq M$ , then we have  $[Jx^*J, e_{M_0}] = 0$  for each x in the support of  $\mu$ . Hence,  $\mathscr{P}_{\varphi}(T) = \int (JxJ)T(Jx^*J)d\mu(x) = T$ , for each T in the \*-algebra generated by M and  $e_{M_0}$ . Therefore,  $\varphi$  is not generating. On the other hand, if  $T \in \text{Har}(\mathscr{B}(L^2(M, \tau)), \mathscr{P}_{\varphi})$  is such that we also have  $T^*T \in \text{Har}(\mathscr{B}(L^2(M, \tau)), \mathscr{P}_{\varphi})$  then for each  $a \in M$  we have

$$\int \| ((JxJ)T - T(JxJ))\hat{a}\|_2^2 d\mu(x)$$
$$= \langle (T^* \mathscr{P}_{\varphi}(1)T - \mathscr{P}_{\varphi}(T^*)T - T^* \mathscr{P}_{\varphi}(T) + \mathscr{P}_{\varphi}(T^*T))\hat{a}, \hat{a} \rangle = 0$$

Hence, [JxJ,T] = 0 for  $\mu$ -almost every  $x \in (M)_1$ . Therefore, if the support of  $\mu$  generates M as a weakly dense subalgebra containing the identity then we then have that  $T \in JMJ' = M$ , showing that  $\varphi$  is generating.

If  $y \in M$  then we have  $\mathscr{P}_{\varphi}(JyJ) = \int Jx^*yxJ d\mu(x)$ . Hence, we see that  $\varphi$  is regular if and only if for all  $y \in M$  we have  $\tau(y) = \int \tau(x^*yx) d\mu(x) = \int \tau(xx^*y) d\mu(x)$ , which is if and only if  $\int xx^* d\mu(x) = 1$ .

If  $\varphi$  is regular then

$$\begin{split} \varphi^*(T) &= \varphi(JT^*J) = \int \langle JT^*J\widehat{x^*}, \widehat{x^*} \rangle \, d\mu(x) \\ &= \int \langle \hat{x}, T^* \hat{x} \rangle \, d\mu(x) = \int \langle T\widehat{x^*}, \widehat{x^*} \rangle \, dJ_*\mu(x). \end{split}$$

Therefore, if  $J_*\mu = \mu$  then  $\varphi$  is symmetric.

The following lemma is well known, see, e.g., [FNW94], or Lemma 3.4 in [BJKW00]. We include a proof for the convenience of the reader.

**Lemma 3.1.5.** Suppose A is a unital C<sup>\*</sup>-algebra with a faithful state  $\varphi$ . If  $\mathscr{P} : A \to A$  is a u.c.p. map such that  $\varphi \circ \mathscr{P} = \varphi$ , then  $\operatorname{Har}(A, \mathscr{P}) \subset A$  is a C<sup>\*</sup>-subalgebra.

*Proof.* Har $(A, \mathscr{P})$  is clearly a self-adjoint closed subspace, thus we must show that Har $(A, \mathscr{P})$  is an algebra. By the polarization identity it is enough to show that  $x^*x \in \text{Har}(A, \mathscr{P})$  whenever  $x \in \text{Har}(A, \mathscr{P})$ . Suppose  $x \in \text{Har}(A, \mathscr{P})$ . By Kadison's indequality we have  $\mathscr{P}(x^*x) - x^*x = \mathscr{P}(x^*x) - \mathscr{P}(x^*)\mathscr{P}(x) \ge 0$ . Also,  $\varphi(\mathscr{P}(x^*x) - x^*x) = 0$  so that by faithfulness of  $\varphi$  we have  $\mathscr{P}(x^*x) = x^*x$ .

**Proposition 3.1.6.** Let M be a finite von Neumann algebra with a normal faithful trace  $\tau$ . Let  $\varphi \in \mathscr{B}(L^2(M,\tau))^*$  be a regular generating hyperstate, and let  $B_{\varphi}$  be the corresponding Poisson boundary, then  $M' \cap B_{\varphi} = \mathscr{Z}(M)$ . In particular, when M is a factor then so is  $B_{\varphi}$ .

*Proof.* Let  $\mathscr{P}: B_{\varphi} \to \operatorname{Har}(\mathscr{B}(L^{2}(M, \tau)), \mathscr{P}_{\varphi})$  denote the Poisson transform. If  $x \in M' \cap B_{\varphi}$ , then  $\mathscr{P}(x) \in M' \cap \mathscr{B}(L^{2}(M, \tau)) = JMJ$ . Since  $\varphi$  is regular,  $\mathscr{P}_{\varphi}$  preserves the trace when restricted to JMJ. Thus,  $\operatorname{Har}(\mathscr{P}_{\varphi}, JMJ)$  is a von Neumann subalgebra of JMJ by Lemma 3.1.5, which must be  $\mathscr{Z}(M)$  since  $\varphi$  is generating. Therefore,  $\mathscr{P}(x) \in \operatorname{Har}(\mathscr{P}_{\varphi}, JMJ) = \mathscr{Z}(M)$ , and hence  $x \in \mathscr{Z}(M)$  since  $\mathscr{P}$  is injective.

If  $\varphi$  is a normal hyperstate in  $\mathscr{S}_{\tau}(\mathscr{B}(L^2(M,\tau)))$ , then  $\mathscr{P}_{\varphi}: \mathscr{B}(L^2(M,\tau)) \to \mathscr{B}(L^2(M,\tau))$  is a normal map, and hence the dual map  $\mathscr{P}_{\varphi}^*$  preserves the predual of  $\mathscr{B}(L^2(M,\tau))$  which we identify with the space of trace class operators.

We let  $A_{\varphi} \in \mathscr{B}(L^2(M, \tau))$  denote the density operator associated with  $\varphi$ , i.e.,  $A_{\varphi}$  is the unique trace class operator so that  $\varphi(T) = \operatorname{Tr}(A_{\varphi}T)$  for all  $T \in \mathscr{B}(L^2(M, \tau))$ . Since  $\varphi$  is positive we have that  $A_{\varphi}$  is a positive operator. If  $P_1$  denotes the rank one orthogonal projection onto  $\mathbb{C}\hat{1}$ , then we have  $\varphi(T) = \langle \mathscr{P}_{\varphi}(T)\hat{1}, \hat{1} \rangle = \operatorname{Tr}(\mathscr{P}_{\varphi}(T)P_1)$ , and hence we see that  $A_{\varphi} = \mathscr{P}_{\varphi}^*(P_1)$ . In particular we have that  $A_{\varphi^{*n}} = (\mathscr{P}_{\varphi}^n)^*(P_1)$  for  $n \ge 1$ .

**Proposition 3.1.7.** Let  $\varphi \in \mathscr{S}_{\tau}(\mathscr{B}(L^2(M, \tau)))$  be a normal hyperstate, then there exists a  $\tau$ orthogonal family  $\{z_n\}_n$  which gives a partition of the identity as  $1 = \sum_n z_n^* z_n$  so that

$$\mathscr{P}_{\varphi}(T) = \sum_{n} (Jz_{n}^{*}J)T(Jz_{n}J)$$

for all  $T \in \mathscr{B}(L^2(M, \tau))$ .

Moreover, if  $\{\tilde{z}_m\}_m$  is a  $\tau$ -orthogonal family which gives a partition of the identity as  $1 = \sum_n \tilde{z}_n^* \tilde{z}_n$ , then the map  $\sum_n (J \tilde{z}_n^* J) T(J \tilde{z}_n J)$  agrees with  $\mathscr{P}_{\varphi}$  if and only if for each t > 0 we have

$$sp\{z_n \mid ||z_n||_2 = t\} = sp\{\tilde{z}_n \mid ||\tilde{z}_n||_2 = t\}.$$

*Proof.* Since  $A_{\varphi}$  is a positive trace class operator we may write  $A_{\varphi} = \sum_{n} a_{n} P_{y_{n}}$  where  $a_{1}, a_{2}, ...$  are positive and  $\{y_{n}\}_{n}$  is an orthonormal family with  $P_{y_{n}}$  denoting the rank one projection onto  $\mathbb{C}y_{n}$ . For  $T \in \mathscr{B}(L^{2}(M, \tau))$  we then have

$$\operatorname{Tr}(TA_{\varphi}) = \sum_{n} a_n \langle Ty_n, y_n \rangle.$$

Taking  $T = x^*x \in M$  we have  $a_n ||xy_n||_2^2 \leq \text{Tr}(x^*xA_{\varphi}) = ||x||_2^2$ , so that  $y_n \in M \subset L^2(M, \tau)$  for each n. Hence, for  $T \in \mathscr{B}(L^2(M, \tau))$  we have

$$\operatorname{Tr}(\mathscr{P}_{\varphi}(T)P_{\hat{1}}) = \operatorname{Tr}(TA_{\varphi}) = \left\langle \sum_{n} a_{n}(Jy_{n}J)T(Jy_{n}^{*}J)\hat{1}, \hat{1} \right\rangle$$
$$= \operatorname{Tr}\left(\left(\sum_{n} a_{n}(Jy_{n}J)T(Jy_{n}^{*}J)\right)P_{\hat{1}}\right).$$

Since  $\mathscr{P}_{\varphi}$  is *M*-bimodular and since  $Jy_n J \in M'$  it follows that for all  $x, y \in M$  we have

$$\operatorname{Tr}(\mathscr{P}_{\varphi}(T)xP_{\hat{1}}y) = \operatorname{Tr}\left(\left(\sum_{n} a_{n}(Jy_{n}J)T(Jy_{n}^{*}J)\right)xP_{\hat{1}}y\right).$$

In particular, setting T = y = 1 we have

$$\tau(x) = \sum_{n} a_n \tau(y_n^* y_n x),$$

which shows that  $\sum_n a_n y_n^* y_n = 1$ .

Since the span of operators of the form  $xP_{\hat{1}}y$  is dense in the space of trace class operators it then follows that  $\mathscr{P}_{\varphi}(T) = \sum_{n} a_{n}(Jy_{n}J)T(Jy_{n}^{*}J)$  for all  $T \in \mathscr{B}(L^{2}(M, \tau))$ . Setting  $z_{n} = \sqrt{a_{n}}y_{n}^{*}$  then finishes the existence part of the proposition.

Suppose now that  $\{\tilde{z}_m\}_m$  is a  $\tau$ -orthogonal family which gives a partition of the identity  $1 = \sum_n \tilde{z}_n^* \tilde{z}_n$ , and set  $\tilde{\varphi}(T) = \text{Tr}((\sum_n (J\tilde{z}_n^*J)T(J\tilde{z}_nJ))P_1)$ . Then, the density matrix corresponding to  $\tilde{\varphi}$  is  $\sum_n \tilde{z}_n^* P_1 \tilde{z}_n$ . Since  $\{\tilde{z}_n\}_n$  forms a  $\tau$ -orthogonal family it then follows easily that  $\tilde{z}_n^*$  is an eigenvector for  $A_{\tilde{\varphi}}$ , and the corresponding eigenvalue is  $\|z_n^*\|_2^2 = \|z_n\|_2^2$ . Since  $\{z_n\}_n$  above was constructed using any orthonormal basis of eigenvectors from  $A_{\varphi}$  the rest of the proposition then follows easily.

We say that the form  $\mathscr{P}_{\varphi}(T) = \sum_{n} (Jz_{n}^{*}J)T(Jz_{n}J)$  (resp.  $\varphi(T) = \sum_{n} \langle T\widehat{z_{n}^{*}}, \widehat{z_{n}^{*}} \rangle$ ) is a standard form for  $\mathscr{P}_{\varphi}$  (resp.  $\varphi$ ).

Remark: It follows from 3.1.4 that  $\varphi$  is generating if and only if the weakly closed subalgebra generated by  $\{z_n\}$  is M

# **Proposition 3.1.8.** If $\varphi$ is generating then the stationary state $\zeta$ on $B_{\varphi}$ is faithful.

*Proof.* By considering the Poisson transform, it suffices to show that  $\varphi$  is faithful on  $\operatorname{Har}(\mathscr{P}_{\varphi})$ . Let  $T \in \operatorname{Har}(\mathscr{P}_{\varphi})$ , with  $T \ge 0$  and  $\varphi(T) = 0$ . Let  $\varphi(S) = \sum_{n} \langle S\hat{z}_{n}^{*}, \hat{z}_{n}^{*} \rangle$  be the standard form of  $\varphi$ . Then  $\varphi(T) = 0$  implies that  $T\hat{z}_{n}^{*} = 0$  for all n. Since  $T \in \operatorname{Har}(\mathscr{P}_{\varphi})$ , we have that  $\mathscr{P}_{\varphi}^{k}(T) = \mathscr{P}_{\varphi}(T)(=T)$ . So, we have that  $\varphi^{*k}(T) = 0$  for all  $k \ge 1$ . As  $\varphi$  is generating, we get that  $T\hat{m} = 0$  for all  $m \in M$ , and hence T = 0. This shows that  $\varphi$  is faithful on  $\text{Har}(\mathscr{P}_{\varphi})$ , and thus the stationary state  $\zeta$  on  $B_{\varphi}$  is faithful.

#### 3.1.2 Construction of the boundary

In this section, we give an explicit construction of the boundary, based on the Bhat's dilation theorem [Bha99]. The author first learned about this construction from Dr. Peterson.

Poisson boundaries of completely positive maps were first defined by Izumi in [Izu02] using the Choi-Effros product from [CE77]. Izumi further developed the theory in [Izu04], and in [Izu12] he credits Arveson with the description of Poisson boundaries as the fixed point algebra of Bhat's dilation, and this is the perspective we take here.

If  $A \subset \mathscr{B}(\mathscr{H})$  is a unital  $C^*$ -algebra, and  $\phi : A \to A$  a unital completely positive map, then a projection  $p \in A$  is said to be **coinvariant**, if  $\{\phi^n(p)\}$  defines an increasing sequence of projections which strongly converge to 1 in  $\mathscr{B}(\mathscr{H})$ , and such that for  $y \in \mathscr{B}(\mathscr{H})$  we have  $y \in A$  if and only if  $\phi^n(p)y\phi^n(p) \in A$  for all  $n \ge 0$ . Note that for  $n \ge 0$ ,  $\phi^n(p)$  is in the multiplicative domain for  $\phi$ , and is again coinvariant. We define  $\phi_p : pAp \to pAp$  to be the map  $\phi_p(x) = p\phi(x)p$ , then  $\phi_p$  is normal unital completely positive. Moreover, we have that  $\phi_p^k(x) = p\phi^k(x)p$  for all  $x \in pAp$ , which can be seen by induction from

$$p\phi^k(x)p = p\phi^{k-1}(p)\phi^k(x)\phi^{k-1}(p)p = p\phi^{k-1}(\phi_p(x))p.$$

**Theorem 3.1.9** (Prunaru [Pru09]). Let  $A \subset \mathscr{B}(\mathscr{H})$  be a unital  $C^*$ -algebra,  $\phi : A \to A$  a unital completely positive map, and  $p \in A$  a coinvariant projection. Then the map  $\theta : \operatorname{Har}(A, \phi) \to \operatorname{Har}(pAp, \phi_p)$  given by  $\theta(x) = pxp$  defines a completely positive isometric surjection, between  $\operatorname{Har}(A, \phi)$  and  $\operatorname{Har}(pAp, \phi_p)$ .

Moreover, if A is a von Neumann algebra and  $\phi$  is normal then  $\theta$  is also normal.

*Proof.* First note that  $\theta$  is well-defined since if  $x \in \text{Har}(A, \phi)$  we have  $\phi_p(pxp) = p\phi(p)x\phi(p)p = pxp$ . Clearly  $\theta$  is completely positive (and normal in the case when A is a von Neumann algebra

and  $\phi$  is normal).

To see that it is surjective, if  $x \in \text{Har}(pAp, \phi_p)$  then consider the sequence  $\phi^n(x)$ . For each  $m, n \ge 0$ , we have

$$\phi^{m}(p)\phi^{m+n}(x)\phi^{m}(p) = \phi^{m}(p\phi^{n}(x)p) = \phi^{m}(\phi^{n}_{p}(x)) = \phi^{m}(x).$$

It follows that  $\{\phi^n(x)\}$  converges in the strong operator topology to an element  $y \in \mathscr{B}(\mathscr{H})$  such that  $\phi^m(p)y\phi^m(p) = \phi^m(x)$  for each  $m \ge 0$ , consequently we have  $y \in A$ .

In particular, for m = 0 we have pyp = x. To see that  $y \in Har(A, \phi)$  we use that for all  $z \in A$  we have the strong operator topology limit

$$\lim_{n \to \infty} \phi(\phi^n(p) z \phi^n(p)) = \phi^{n+1}(p) \phi(z) \phi^{n+1}(p) = \phi(z),$$

and hence

$$\phi(y) = \lim_{m \to \infty} \phi(\phi^m(p)y\phi^m(p)) = \lim_{m \to \infty} \phi^{m+1}(x) = y.$$

Thus  $\theta$  is surjective, and since  $\phi^n(p)$  converges strongly to 1, and each  $\phi^n(p)$  is in the multiplicative domain of  $\phi$ , it follows that if  $x \in \text{Har}(A, \phi)$  then  $\phi^n(pxp)$  converges strongly to x and hence

$$||x|| = \lim_{n \to \infty} ||\phi^n(pxp)|| \le ||pxp|| \le ||x||.$$

Thus,  $\theta$  is also isometric.

**Corollary 3.1.10** (Izumi [Izu02]). Let A be a unital C<sup>\*</sup>-algebra, and  $\phi : A \to A$  a unital completely positive map. Then there exists a C<sup>\*</sup>-algebra B and a completely positive isometric surjection  $\theta : B \to \text{Har}(A, \phi)$ .

Moreover B and  $\theta$  are unique in the sense that if  $\tilde{B}$  is another  $C^*$ -algebra, and  $\tilde{\theta} : \tilde{B} \to$ Har $(A, \phi)$  is a completely positive isometric surjection, then  $\theta^{-1} \circ \tilde{\theta}$  is an isomorphism.

Also, if A is a von Neumann algebra and  $\phi$  is normal, then B is also a von Neumann algebra and  $\theta$  is normal.

*Proof.* Note that we may assume  $A \subset \mathscr{B}(\mathscr{H})$ . Existence then follows by applying the previous theorem to Bhat's dilation. Uniqueness follows from Theorem ??.

We refer to the *C*<sup>\*</sup>-algebra *B* from the previous corollary as the **Poisson boundary of**  $\phi$ , and we refer to the map  $\theta$  as the **Poisson transform**.

**Corollary 3.1.11** (Choi-Effros [CE77]). Let A be a unital C\*-algebra and  $F \subset A$  an operator system. If  $E : A \to F$  is a completely positive map such that  $E_{|F} = id$ , then F has a unique C\*algebraic structure which is given by  $x \cdot y = E(xy)$ . Moreover, if A is a von Neumann algebra and F is weakly closed then this gives a von Neumann algebraic structure on F.

*Proof.* When *A* is a *C*<sup>\*</sup>-algebra this follows from Corollary 3.1.10 since Har(A, E) = F. Also note that since  $E^n = E$  it follows from the proof of Theorem 3.1.9 that the product structure coming from the Poisson boundary is given by  $x \cdot y = E(xy)$ .

If *A* is a von Neumann algebra and *F* is weakly closed then *F* has a predual  $F_{\perp} = \{\varphi \in A_* \mid \varphi(x) = 0, \text{ for all } x \in F\}$  and hence *A* is isomorphic to a von Neumann algebraic by Sakai's theorem.

Note that if *A* is a  $C^*$ -algebra,  $F \subset A$  an operator system, and  $E : A \to F$  completely positive with  $E_{|F} = \text{id}$ , then we still have a form of bimodularity for *E* when we endow *F* with the Choi-Effros product from Corollary 3.1.11. In this case though the bimodularity is with respect to two different product structures, i.e., we have

$$E(xay) = x \cdot E(a) \cdot y,$$

for all  $x, y \in F$ ,  $a \in A$ .

#### 3.2 Bi-harmonic operators

If  $\varphi \in \mathscr{S}_{\tau}(\mathscr{B}(L^2(M, \tau)))$  is regular and normal then we define  $\mathscr{P}^o_{\varphi}$  to be the u.c.p. map given by  $\mathscr{P}^o_{\varphi} = \operatorname{Ad}(J) \circ \mathscr{P}_{\varphi^*} \circ \operatorname{Ad}(J)$ . Note that  $\mathscr{P}^o_{\varphi}$  and  $\mathscr{P}_{\eta}$  commute for any normal hyperstate  $\eta$ . Indeed, if we have standard forms  $\mathscr{P}_{\varphi}(T) = \sum_{n} (Jz_{n}^{*}J)T(Jz_{n}J)$  and  $\mathscr{P}_{\eta}(T) = \sum_{m} (Jy_{m}^{*}J)T(Jy_{m}J)$ then by Proposition 3.1.4 we have  $\mathscr{P}_{\varphi}^{o}(T) = \sum_{n} z_{n}Tz_{n}^{*}$  and hence

$$\mathscr{P}^{o}_{\varphi} \circ \mathscr{P}_{\eta}(T) = \mathscr{P}_{\eta} \circ \mathscr{P}^{o}_{\varphi}(T) = \sum_{n,m} z_{n}(Jy_{m}^{*}J)T(Jy_{m}J)z_{n}^{*}.$$

The following is a noncommutative analogue of double ergodicity which was established in [Kai03].

**Theorem 3.2.1.** Let  $\varphi \in \mathscr{S}_{\tau}(\mathscr{B}(L^2(M, \tau)))$  be a normal regular generating hyperstate, then

$$\operatorname{Har}(\mathscr{B}(L^2(M,\tau)),\mathscr{P}_{\boldsymbol{\varphi}})\cap\operatorname{Har}(\mathscr{B}(L^2(M,\tau)),\mathscr{P}_{\boldsymbol{\varphi}}^o)=\mathscr{Z}(M).$$

*Proof.* We fix a standard form  $\mathscr{P}_{\varphi}(T) = \sum_{n} (Jz_{n}^{*}J)T(Jz_{n}J)$ , so that we also have  $\mathscr{P}_{\varphi}^{o}(T) = \sum_{m} z_{m}Tz_{m}^{*}$ . We identify the Poisson boundary  $B_{\varphi}$  with  $\operatorname{Har}(\mathscr{B}(L^{2}(M, \tau)))$ , and let  $\zeta$  denote the stationary state on  $B_{\varphi}$ , which is faithful by Proposition 3.1.8. For  $T \in B_{\varphi}$  we have

$$\zeta(\mathscr{P}^o_{\varphi}(T)) = \langle \mathscr{P}^o_{\varphi}(T)\hat{1}, \hat{1} \rangle = \langle \mathscr{P}_{\varphi}(T)\hat{1}, \hat{1} \rangle = \zeta(\mathscr{P}_{\varphi}(T)) = \zeta(T).$$

By Lemma 3.1.5 we then have that  $B_0 = \text{Har}(B_{\varphi}, \mathscr{P}^o_{|B_{\varphi}})$  is a von Neumann subalgebra of  $B_{\varphi}$ . If  $p \in B_0$  is a projection and  $\xi \in L^2(B_{\varphi}, \zeta)$  then

$$\sum_{n} \|pz_n^*p^{\perp}\xi\|_2^2 = \sum_{n} \langle z_n p z_n^*p^{\perp}\zeta, p^{\perp}\xi \rangle = 0.$$

We must therefore have  $||pz_n^*p^{\perp}\xi||_2 = 0$  for each *n*, and hence  $pz_n^* = pz_n^*p$ , for each *n*. Repeating this argument with *p* and  $p^{\perp}$  reversed shows that  $z_n^*p = pz_n^*p$ , so that  $p \in M' \cap B_{\varphi}$ . Since *p* was an arbitrary projection we then have  $B_0 \subset M' \cap B_{\varphi}$  and by Proposition 3.1.6 we have  $B_0 = \mathscr{Z}(M)$ .  $\Box$ 

The previous result allows us to obtain an analogue of the Choquet-Deny theorem.

**Corollary 3.2.2** (The Choquet-Deny theorem). Suppose M is abelian and  $\varphi \in \mathscr{S}_{\tau}(\mathscr{B}(L^2(M, \tau)))$ 

is a normal regular generating hyperstate, then

$$\operatorname{Har}(\mathscr{B}(L^2(M,\tau)),\mathscr{P}_{\varphi})=\mathscr{Z}(M)=M.$$

**Theorem 3.2.3.** Let  $\varphi \in \mathscr{S}_{\tau}(\mathscr{B}(L^2(M, \tau)))$  be a normal regular generating hyperstate, suppose  $C \subset B_{\varphi}$  is a weakly closed M-bimodule. If  $\delta : M \to C$  is a norm continuous derivation then there exists  $c \in C$  so that  $\delta(x) = [x, c]$  for  $x \in M$ . Moreover, c may be chosen so that  $||c|| \leq ||\delta||$ .

*Proof.* We first view  $\delta$  as a derivation from M into  $\mathscr{P}(C) \subset \operatorname{Har}(\mathscr{P}_{\varphi}) \subset \mathscr{B}(L^{2}M, \tau)$ . Henceforth, we shall identify C with  $\mathscr{P}(C)$ . Since  $L^{2}(M, \tau)$  has a cyclic vector for M,  $\delta(m) = mT - Tm$  for some  $T \in \mathscr{B}(L^{2}M, \tau)$ . (Theorem 5.3, [Chr78]). Taking the conditional expectation onto  $\operatorname{Har}(\mathscr{P}_{\varphi})$ , we may assume  $T \in \operatorname{Har}(\mathscr{P}_{\varphi})$ . Note that by our hypothesis,  $z_{m}\delta(z_{m}^{*}) \in C$ . So we get:

$$\sum_{m} z_m \delta(z_m^*) = \sum_{m} z_m z_m^* T - \sum_{m} z_m T z_m^* = T - \mathscr{P}_{\varphi}^o(T)$$

The left hand side of the above equation defines an element of *C*. So,  $T - \mathscr{P}^o_{\varphi}(T) \in C$ . As  $\mathscr{P}^o_{\varphi}$  leaves *C* invariant (as *C* is an *M*-bimodule), by induction we get that  $T - (\mathscr{P}^o_{\varphi})^n(T) \in C$  for all  $n \geq 1$ . So, we get:

$$T - \frac{1}{N} \sum_{n=1}^{N} (\mathscr{P}_{\varphi}^{o})^{n}(T) \in C$$

But,  $\frac{1}{N}\sum_{n=1}^{N}(\mathscr{P}_{\varphi}^{o})^{n}(T)$  has a weak operator topology limit point  $z \in \operatorname{Har}(\mathscr{P}_{\varphi}^{o})$ . As  $z \in \operatorname{Har}(\mathscr{P}_{\varphi})$  as well, we get by theorem 3.2.1, that  $z \in \mathscr{Z}(M)$ . So,  $T = (T - z) + z \in C$ 

**Theorem 3.2.4.** Let  $(M, \tau)$  be a tracial von Neumann algebra, and suppose  $T \in \mathscr{B}(L^2(M, \tau))$ , then

$$\operatorname{dist}(T,\mathscr{Z}(M)) \leq \|\delta_{T|M'}\| + \|\delta_{T|M}\|.$$

*Proof.* Let  $\mathscr{P}_{\varphi}(x) = \sum_{i} \mu_{i} J u_{i}^{*} J x J u_{i} J$ , where  $u_{i}^{\prime} s \in \mathscr{U}(M), \mu_{i} > 0, \sum_{i} \mu_{i} = 1$ , and span $\{u_{i} 1_{\tau}\}$  form a dense set in  $L^{2}(M, \tau)$ . Then,  $\mathscr{P}_{\varphi}$  is a normal u.c.p. map, which corresponds to a regular, symmetric hyperstate  $\varphi$ .

Note that

$$||T - Ju_i^*JTJu_iJ|| = ||[Ju_iJ,T]|| \le ||\delta_{T|M'}||$$

So, we get:

$$\|T - \frac{1}{N} \sum_{n=1}^{N} \mathscr{P}_{\varphi}^{n}(T)\| \le \|\delta_{T|M'}\|$$

But,  $\sum_{n=1}^{N} \mathscr{P}_{\varphi}^{n}(T)$  has a weak operator topology limit point  $S \in \text{Har}(\mathscr{P}_{\varphi})$ . By same techniques as above, we get:

$$\|S - \frac{1}{N} \sum_{n=1}^{N} (\mathscr{P}_{\varphi}^{o})^{n}(S)\| \le \|\delta_{S|M}\|$$

It's easy to see that  $\|\delta_{S|M}\| \leq \|\delta_{T|M}\|$ . Now, let *R* be a weak operator topology limit point of  $\frac{1}{N}\sum_{n=1}^{N}(\mathscr{P}_{\varphi}^{o})^{n}(S)$ . Note that  $R \in \operatorname{Har}(\mathscr{P}_{\varphi}) \cap \operatorname{Har}(\mathscr{P}_{\varphi}^{o}) = \mathscr{Z}(M)$ . So,

$$dist(T, \mathscr{Z}(M)) \le ||T - R|| \le ||T - S|| + ||S - R|| \le ||\delta_{T|M'}|| + ||\delta_{T|M}||$$

# **Corollary 3.2.5.** If *M* is an injective $II_1$ factor, then $dist(T, M') \le \|\delta_{T|M}\|$

*Proof.* Since M' = JMJ is isomorphic to  $L(S_{\infty})$ , by [KV83], there exists a regular, symmetric, generating hyperstate  $\varphi$  such that  $\operatorname{Har}(\mathscr{P}_{\varphi}) = M'$ . Then, by same techniques as above, we can find  $R \in \operatorname{Har}(\mathscr{P}_{\varphi}) = M'$  with  $||T - R|| \le ||\delta_{T|M}||$ . Hence,  $\operatorname{dist}(T, M') \le ||\delta_{T|M}||$ .

Remark:  $M \subseteq B_{\varphi}$  has the weak relative Dixmier property, in the sense of [Pop00]. The proof follows from theorem 3.2.1.

## 3.3 Entropy

## 3.3.1 Asymptotic entropy

We let *M* be a tracial von Neumann algebra with a faithful normal tracial state  $\tau$ . For a normal hyperstate  $\varphi \in \mathscr{S}_{\tau}(\mathscr{B}(L^2(M, \tau)))$  we define the **entropy of**  $\varphi$ , denoted by  $H(\varphi)$ , to be the von

Neumann entropy of the corresponding density matrix  $A_{\varphi}$ :

$$H(\boldsymbol{\varphi}) = -\mathrm{Tr}(A_{\boldsymbol{\varphi}}\log(A_{\boldsymbol{\varphi}})).$$

If we have a standard form  $\varphi(T) = \sum_{n} \langle T \hat{z_n^*}, \hat{z_n^*} \rangle$  then we may compute this explicitly as

$$H(\boldsymbol{\varphi}) = -\sum_{n} \|z_{n}\|_{2}^{2} \log(\|z_{n}\|_{2}^{2}).$$

**Theorem 3.3.1.** If  $\varphi$  and  $\psi$  are two normal hyperstates with  $\psi$  regular, then

$$H(\boldsymbol{\varphi} \ast \boldsymbol{\psi}) \leq H(\boldsymbol{\varphi}) + H(\boldsymbol{\psi})$$

*Proof.* Let  $A_{\varphi}$  and  $A_{\psi}$  be the corresponding density matrices and  $\mathscr{P}_{\varphi}$  and  $\mathscr{P}_{\psi}$  be the corresponding u.c.p. *M*-bimodular maps. Let  $\{a_i\}_{i\in I}$  and  $\{c_j\}_{j\in J}$  be  $\tau$  orthogonal families, as in proof of proposition 3.1.7, such that  $A_{\varphi} = \sum_{i} \mu_i P_{\hat{a}_i}$  and  $A_{\psi} = \sum_{j} \nu_j P_{\hat{c}_j}$ . Let  $b_i = Ja_i J$  and  $d_i = Jc_i J$ . Then  $b_i, d_i \in M'$ . We have that:

$$\mathscr{P}_{\varphi}(T) = \sum_{i} \mu_{i} b_{i} T b_{i}^{*} \text{ and } \mathscr{P}_{\psi}(T) = \sum_{j} v_{j} d_{j} T d_{j}^{*}.$$

Since  $\psi$  is a regular hyperstate we have that  $\sum_{i} v_i d_i^* d_i = \sum_{i} v_i d_i d_i^* = 1$ . Since  $\varphi$  is a hyperstate, we have that  $\sum_{i} \mu_i b_i b_i^* = 1$ . Now,

$$H(A_{\varphi*\psi}) = -\sum_{i,j} Tr[\mu_i \nu_j b_i^* d_j^* P_{\hat{1}} d_j b_i \log(A_{\varphi*\psi})].$$

But

$$b_i^* d_j^* P_{\widehat{1}} d_j b_i = \tau(b_i b_i^* d_j^* d_j) P_{\widehat{b_i^* d_j^*}}.$$

So,

$$A_{\varphi*\psi} = \sum_{i,j} \mu_i \nu_j b_i^* d_j^* P_{\widehat{1}} d_j b_i \ge \mu_i \nu_j \tau(b_i b_i^* d_j^* d_j) P_{\widehat{b_i^* d_j^*}}$$

for each *i*, *j*.

Thus

$$-\log(A_{\varphi*\psi}) = -\log(\sum_{i,j}\mu_i\nu_jb_i^*d_j^*P_{\hat{1}}d_jb_i) \le -\log((\mu_i\nu_j\tau(b_ib_i^*d_j^*d_j))P_{\widehat{b_i^*d_j^*}})$$

for each i, j, as log is operator monotone.

So,

$$\begin{split} H(A_{\varphi*\psi}) &\leq -\sum_{i,j} Tr[\mu_i \mathbf{v}_j \tau(b_i b_i^* d_j^* d_j) P_{\widehat{b_i^* d_j^*}} \log(\mu_i \mathbf{v}_j \tau(b_i b_i^* d_j^* d_j) P_{\widehat{b_i^* d_j^*}})] \\ &= -\sum_{i,j} Tr[\mu_i \mathbf{v}_j \tau(b_i b_i^* d_j^* d_j) P_{\widehat{b_i^* d_j^*}} \log(\mu_i \mathbf{v}_j \tau(b_i b_i^* d_j^* d_j) - \sum_{i,j} Tr[\mu_i \mathbf{v}_j \tau(b_i b_i^* d_j^* d_j) P_{\widehat{b_i^* d_j^*}} \log(P_{\widehat{b_i^* d_j^*}})] \\ &= -\sum_{i,j} \mu_i \mathbf{v}_j \tau(b_i b_i^* d_j^* d_j) \log(\mu_i \mathbf{v}_j \tau(b_i b_i^* d_j^* d_j), \end{split}$$

as the second term vanishes, and  $Tr(P_{\widehat{b_i^*d_j^*}}) = 1$ . Now define m on  $I \times J$  by  $m(i, j) = \mu_i \mathbf{v}_j \tau(b_i b_i^* d_j^* d_j)$ . Note that  $\sum_i m(i, j) = \mathbf{v}_j \tau(\sum_i \mu_i b_i b_i^* d_j^* d_j) = \mathbf{v}_j \tau(d_j^* d_j) = \mathbf{v}_j$  and  $\sum_j m(i, j) = \mu_i \tau(\sum_i \mathbf{v}_j b_i b_i^* d_j^* d_j) = \mu_i \tau(b_i b_i^*) = \mu_i$ . We claim that

$$H(m) = -\sum_{i,j} m(i,j) \log(m(i,j)) \le H(\mu) + H(\nu).$$

Proof of claim:

$$\begin{split} H(m) &= -\sum_{i,j} m(i,j) \log(m(i,j)) \\ &= -\sum_{i,j} \mu_i v_j \tau(b_i b_i^* d_j^* d_j) \log(\mu_i \tau(b_i b_i^* d_j^* d_j)) - \sum_{i,j} \mu_i v_j \tau(b_i b_i^* d_j^* d_j) \log(v_j) \\ &= -\sum_{i,j} \mu_i v_j \tau(b_i b_i^* d_j^* d_j) \log(\mu_i) - \sum_{i,j} \mu_i v_j \tau(b_i b_i^* d_j^* d_j) \log(v_j) - \sum_{i,j} \mu_i v_j \tau(b_i b_i^* d_j^* d_j) \log(\tau(b_i b_i^* d_j^* d_j)) . \end{split}$$

Note that in the above sum, the first term is  $H(\mu)$  (summing over *j* we get  $-\sum_{i} \mu_{i} \tau(b_{i}b_{i}^{*}) \log(\mu_{i}) = -\sum_{i} \mu_{i} \log(\mu_{i})$ ), and the second term is  $H(\nu)$ . So, the inequality will be satisfied if we can show:  $\sum_{i,j} \mu_{i} \nu_{j} \tau(b_{i}b_{i}^{*}d_{j}^{*}d_{j}) \log(\tau(b_{i}b_{i}^{*}d_{j}^{*}d_{j})) \ge 0.$  Let  $\eta(x) = -x \log(x)$  for  $x \in [0, 1]$ . Note that  $\eta$  is concave, and so  $\eta(\sum_{i} \alpha_{i} x_{i}) \ge \sum_{i} \alpha_{i} \eta(x_{i})$ whenever  $\alpha_{i} \ge 0$  and  $\sum_{i} \alpha_{i} = 1$ . So,

$$\begin{split} -\sum_{i,j} \mu_i \mathbf{v}_j \tau(b_i b_i^* d_j^* d_j) \log(\tau(b_i b_i^* d_j^* d_j)) &= \sum_{i,j} \mu_i \mathbf{v}_j \eta(\tau(b_i b_i^* d_j^* d_j)) \\ &= \sum_i \mu_i (\sum_j \mathbf{v}_j \eta(\tau(b_i b_i^* d_j^* d_j))) \\ &\leq \sum_i \mu_i \eta(\sum_j \mathbf{v}_j \tau(b_i b_i^* d_j^* d_j)) \\ &= \sum_i \mu_i \eta(\tau(b_i b_i^*)) = 0 \end{split}$$

**Corollary 3.3.2.** If  $\varphi$  is a normal, regular hyperstate, then the limit  $\lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{H(\varphi^{*n})}{n}$  exits.

*Proof.* The sequence  $\{H(\varphi^{*n})\}$  is subadditive by Theorem 3.3.1

The asymptotic entropy  $h(\varphi)$  of a normal regular hyperstate  $\varphi$  is defined to be the limit

$$h(\boldsymbol{\varphi}) = \lim_{n \to \infty} \frac{H(\boldsymbol{\varphi}^{*n})}{n}$$

# 3.3.2 A Furstenberg type entropy

Suppose *G* is a Polish group and  $\mu \in \text{Prob}(G)$ . Given a quasi-invariant action  $G \curvearrowright^a(X, v)$  the corresponding Furstenberg entropy (or  $\mu$ -entropy) is defined [Fur63, Section 8] to be

$$h_{\mu}(a, \mathbf{v}) = -\iint \log\left(\frac{dg^{-1}\mathbf{v}}{d\mathbf{v}}(x)\right) d\mathbf{v}(x)d\mu(g)$$

If we consider the measure space  $(G \times X, v \times \mu)$  then we have a non-singular map  $\pi : G \times X \to \mu$ 

 $G \times X$  given by  $\pi(g,x) = (g,g^{-1}x)$ , whose Radon-Nikodym derivative is given by

$$\frac{d\pi(\mu \times \nu)}{d(\mu \times \nu)}(x,g) = \frac{dg^{-1}\nu}{d\nu}(x).$$

We may thus rewrite the  $\mu$ -entropy as a relative entropy

$$h_{\mu}(a,\mathbf{v}) = -\iint \log\left(\frac{d\pi(\mathbf{v}\times\mu)}{d(\mathbf{v}\times\mu)}(g,x)\right) d(\mathbf{v}\times\mu) = S((\mathbf{v}\times\mu)|\pi(\mathbf{v}\times\mu)).$$

Let  $(M, \tau)$  be a tracial von Neumann algebra,  $\varphi$  a normal hyperstate for M, and  $\mathscr{A}$  a  $C^*$ -algebra, such that  $M \subseteq \mathscr{A}$ . Let  $\zeta \in \mathscr{S}_{\tau}(\mathscr{A})$  be a faithful hyperstate. Let  $\Delta_{\zeta} : L^2(\mathscr{A}, \zeta) \to L^2(\mathscr{A}, \zeta)$  be the modular operator corresponding to  $\zeta$ , and consider the spectral decomposition  $\Delta_{\zeta} = \int_0^\infty \lambda \, dE(\lambda)$ .

Since  $\zeta|_M = \tau$ , we have a natural inclusion of  $L^2(M, \tau)$  in  $L^2(\mathscr{A}, \zeta)$ . Let *e* denote the orthogonal projection from  $L^2(\mathscr{A}, \zeta)$  to  $L^2(M, \tau)$ . The entropy of the inclusion  $(M, \tau) \subset (\mathscr{A}, \zeta)$  with respect to  $\varphi$  is defined to be

$$h_{\varphi}(M \subset \mathscr{A}, \zeta) = -\int \log(\lambda) d\varphi(eE(\lambda)e)$$

**Example 3.3.3.** If  $\Gamma$  is a discrete group,  $\mu \in \operatorname{Prob}(\Gamma)$  and  $\Gamma \curvearrowright^a(X, \mathbf{v})$  is a quasi-invariant action, then we may consider the state  $\varphi$  on  $\mathscr{B}(\ell^2\Gamma)$  given by  $\varphi(T) = \int \langle T \delta_{\gamma}, \delta_{\gamma} \rangle d\mu(\gamma)$ , and we may consider the state  $\zeta$  on  $L^{\infty}(X, \mathbf{v}) \rtimes \Gamma \subset \mathscr{B}(\ell^2\Gamma \otimes L^2(X, \mathbf{v}))$  given by  $\zeta(\sum_{\gamma \in \Gamma} a_{\gamma}u_{\gamma}) = \int a_e d\mathbf{v}$ . Note that we have that in this case we may compute  $\varphi * \zeta(\sum_{\gamma \in \Gamma} a_{\gamma}u_{\gamma}) = \int a_e d\mu * \mathbf{v}$ . The modular operator  $\Delta_{\zeta}$  is then affiliated to the von Neumann algebra  $\ell^{\infty}\Gamma \otimes L^{\infty}(X, \mathbf{v})$ , and we may compute this directly as

$$\Delta_{\zeta}(\gamma, x) = \frac{d\gamma^{-1}\nu}{d\nu}(x).$$

We also have that the projection e from  $\ell^2 \Gamma \otimes L^2(X, \mathbf{v}) \to \ell^2 \Gamma$  is given by  $\mathrm{id} \otimes \int$ . Thus, it follows that the measure  $d\varphi(eE(\lambda)e)$  agrees with  $d\alpha_*(\mu \times \mathbf{v})$ , where  $\alpha : \Gamma \times X \to \mathbb{R}_{>0}$  is the Radon-Nikodym cocycle,  $\alpha(\gamma, x) = \frac{d\gamma^{-1}v}{dv}(x)$ .

In this case we then have

$$\begin{split} h_{\varphi}(L\Gamma \subset L^{\infty}(X, \mathbf{v}) \rtimes \Gamma, \zeta) &= -\int \log(\lambda) d\varphi(eE(\lambda)e) \\ &= -\iint \log\left(\frac{d\gamma^{-1}\mathbf{v}}{d\mathbf{v}}(x)\right) d(\mathbf{v} \times \mu) = h_{\mu}(a, \mathbf{v}). \end{split}$$

**Lemma 3.3.4.** Let  $\varphi \in \mathscr{S}_{\tau}(\mathscr{B}(L^2(M, \tau)))$  be a normal hyperstate and write  $\varphi$  in a standard form  $\varphi(T) = \sum_n \langle T\hat{z_n^*}, \hat{z_n^*} \rangle$ . Suppose  $\mathscr{A}$  is a C\*-algebra with  $M \subset \mathscr{A}$  and  $\zeta \in \mathscr{S}_{\tau}(\mathscr{A})$  is a hyperstate. Then if  $h_{\varphi}(M \subset \mathscr{A}, \zeta) < \infty$  we have that  $z_n^* 1_{\zeta} \in D(\log \Delta_{\zeta})$  for each n and

$$h_{\varphi}(M \subset \mathscr{A}, \zeta) = \sum_{n} \langle \log \Delta_{\zeta} z_n^* 1_{\zeta}, z_n^* 1_{\zeta} \rangle = i \lim_{t \to 0} \frac{1}{t} \sum_{n} (\zeta(z_n \sigma_t^{\zeta}(z_n^*)) - 1).$$

*Proof.* As  $\mathscr{A}1_{\zeta}$  forms a core for  $S_{\zeta}$  we get that  $z_n^*1_{\zeta} \in D(\log(\Delta_{\zeta}))$ . Also, we know that  $\lim_{t \to 0} \frac{\Delta_{\zeta}^{it} - 1}{t} \xi = i\log(\Delta_{\zeta})\xi$ , for all  $\xi \in D(\Delta_{\zeta})$ . So, we have that

$$\begin{split} h_{\varphi}(M \subset \mathscr{A}, \zeta) &= -\varphi(e \log(\Delta_{\zeta}) e) \\ &= \sum_{n} \langle \log \Delta_{\zeta} z_{n}^{*} 1_{\zeta}, z_{n}^{*} 1_{\zeta} \rangle \\ &= i \sum_{n} \langle z_{n} \lim_{t \to 0} \frac{\Delta_{\zeta}^{it} - 1}{t} z_{n}^{*} 1_{\zeta}, 1_{\zeta} \rangle = i \lim_{t \to 0} \frac{1}{t} \sum_{n} (\zeta(z_{n} \sigma_{t}^{\zeta}(z_{n}^{*})) - 1). \end{split}$$

**Example 3.3.5.** Fix two normal hyperstates  $\varphi, \zeta \in \mathscr{S}_{\tau}(\mathscr{B}(L^2(M, \tau)))$  such that  $\varphi$  is regular, and  $\zeta$  is faithful, and consider the case  $\mathscr{A} = \mathscr{B}(L^2(M, \tau))$ . Then the density operator  $A_{\zeta}$  is injective with dense range and the modular operator on  $L^2(\mathscr{B}(L^2(M, \tau)), \zeta)$  is given by  $\Delta_{\zeta}(T1_{\zeta}) = A_{\zeta}TA_{\zeta}^{-1}1_{\zeta}$ , for  $T \in \mathscr{B}(L^2(M, \tau))$  such that  $T1_{\zeta} \in D(\Delta_{\zeta})$ , so that  $\log(\Delta_{\zeta})(T1_{\zeta}) = (\operatorname{Ad}(\log A_{\zeta})T)1_{\zeta}$ , where  $\operatorname{Ad}(\log A_{\zeta})T = (\log A_{\zeta})T - T(\log A_{\zeta})$ .

We also have that the projection  $e: L^2(\mathscr{B}(L^2(M,\tau)),\zeta) \to L^2(M,\tau)$  is given by  $e(T1_{\zeta}) =$ 

 $\mathscr{P}_{\zeta}(T)1_{\tau}$ . Therefore,  $e \log \Delta_{\zeta} ex1_{\tau} = \mathscr{P}_{\zeta}(\operatorname{Ad}(\log A_{\zeta})x)1_{\tau} = \mathscr{P}_{\zeta}(\operatorname{Ad}(\log A_{\zeta}))x1_{\tau}$ . Hence,

$$\begin{split} h_{\varphi}(M \subset \mathscr{B}(L^{2}(M,\tau)),\zeta) &= \varphi(\mathscr{P}_{\zeta}(\operatorname{Ad}(\log A_{\zeta}))) \\ &= \operatorname{Tr}(A_{\varphi * \zeta}\operatorname{Ad}(\log A_{\zeta})) \\ &= \operatorname{Tr}(A_{\varphi * \zeta}\log A_{\zeta}) - \langle \log A_{\zeta} 1_{\tau}, 1_{\tau} \rangle. \end{split}$$

*Where the last equality follows since*  $\varphi$  *is regular.* 

We recall the following two lemmas from works of D.Petz

**Lemma 3.3.6** (D.Petz: Properties of relative entropy of states of von Neumann algebras). Let  $\Delta_j$  be positive, self adjoint operators on  $\mathcal{H}_j$ , j = 1, 2. If  $T : \mathcal{H}_1 \to \mathcal{H}_2$  is a bounded operator such that:

- $T(\mathscr{D}(\Delta_1)) \subseteq \mathscr{D}(\Delta_2)$
- $||\Delta_2 T\xi|| \leq ||T|| \cdot ||\Delta_1 \xi|| \ (\xi \in \mathscr{D}(\Delta_1)),$

then we have for each  $t \in [0,1]$ , and  $\xi \in \mathscr{D}(\Delta_1^t)$ ,

$$||\Delta_2^t T \boldsymbol{\xi}|| \le ||T|| \cdot ||\Delta_1^t \boldsymbol{\xi}||$$

**Lemma 3.3.7** (D Petz). Let  $\Delta$  be a positive self adjoint operator and  $\xi \in \mathscr{D}(\Delta)$ . Then:

$$\lim_{t \to 0+} \frac{||\Delta^{t/2}\xi||^2 - ||\xi||^2}{t}$$

exists. It's finite or  $-\infty$  and equals  $\int_{0}^{\infty} \log \lambda d \langle E_{\lambda} \xi, \xi \rangle$  where  $\int_{0}^{\infty} \log \lambda d E_{\lambda}$  is the spectral resolution of  $\Delta$ .

**Corollary 3.3.8.** 
$$h_{\varphi}(M \subset \mathscr{A}, \zeta) = -\lim_{t \to 0+} \frac{\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} ||\Delta_{\varphi}^{t/2} e z_n^* 1_{\tau}||^2 - ||e z_n^* 1_{\tau}||^2}{t}$$

**Lemma 3.3.9.**  $h_{\varphi}(M \subset \mathscr{A}, \zeta) \geq 0$ 

Proof. Let  $\mathscr{P}_{\zeta}(T) = eTe$  for  $T \in \mathscr{A}$ .  $h_{\varphi}(M \subset \mathscr{A}, \zeta) = \lim_{n \to \infty} \varphi(-e \log \Delta_n e) = -\lim_{n \to \infty} \langle \mathscr{P}_{\varphi} \circ \mathscr{P}_{\zeta}(\log \Delta_n) 1_{\tau}, 1_{\tau} \rangle \geq \lim_{n \to \infty} -\langle \log(\mathscr{P}_{\varphi} \circ \mathscr{P}_{\zeta}(\Delta_n)) 1_{\tau}, 1_{\tau} \rangle$ (using the operator Jensen's inequality; recall that log is operator concave). Now,  $e\Delta_n e \leq e\Delta e = I$ . So,  $\mathscr{P}_{\varphi} \circ \mathscr{P}_{\zeta}(\Delta_n) \leq I$ . As log is operator monotone, we get that  $\log(\mathscr{P}_{\varphi} \circ \mathscr{P}_{\zeta}(\Delta_n)) \leq \log(I) = 0$ . Hence we are done.

**Theorem 3.3.10.** Let  $\varphi, \psi \in \mathscr{S}_{\tau}(\mathscr{B}(L^2(M, \tau)))$  be two normal hyperstates such that  $\psi$  is regular, and suppose  $\mathscr{A}$  is a  $C^*$ -algebra with  $M \subset \mathscr{A}$ , and  $\zeta \in S_{\tau}(\mathscr{A})$  is a faithful hyperstate, then

$$h_{\varphi \ast \psi}(M \subset \mathscr{A}, \zeta) = h_{\varphi}(M \subset \mathscr{A}, \psi \ast \zeta) + h_{\psi}(M \subset \mathscr{A}, \zeta).$$

*Proof.* Let  $\mathscr{P}_{\varphi}$  and  $\mathscr{P}_{\psi}$  be the corresponding u.c.p. maps. Let  $\mathscr{P}_{\varphi}(T) = \sum_{k} \mu_{k} J a_{k}^{*} J T J a_{k} J$  and  $\mathscr{P}_{\psi}(T) = \sum_{l} v_{l} J b_{l}^{*} J T J b_{l} J$ . We shall denote the projection from  $L^{2}(\mathscr{A}, \zeta)$  to  $L^{2}(M, \tau)$  by e and  $\Delta_{\zeta}$  by  $\Delta$ . We then have:

$$h_{\varphi}(M \subset \mathscr{A}, \zeta) = i \lim_{t \to 0} \varphi(\frac{e\Delta^{it}e - 1}{t}) = i \lim_{t \to 0} \frac{1}{t} \varphi(e\Delta^{it}e - 1)$$
$$= i \lim_{t \to 0} \frac{1}{t} (\sum_{k} \mu_{k} \langle (\Delta^{it} - 1)a_{k}^{*}1_{\zeta}, a_{k}^{*}1_{\zeta} \rangle)$$

Similarly,

$$h_{\Psi}(M \subset \mathscr{A}, \zeta) = i \lim_{t \to 0} \frac{1}{t} \left( \sum_{l} v_{l} \langle (\Delta^{it} - 1) b_{l}^{*} 1_{\zeta}, b_{l}^{*} 1_{\zeta} \rangle \right)$$

and,

$$h_{\varphi*\psi}(M \subset \mathscr{A}, \zeta) = i \lim_{t \to 0} \frac{1}{t} \left( \sum_{k,l} \mu_k \mathbf{v}_l \langle (\Delta^{it} - 1) a_k^* b_l^* \mathbf{1}_{\zeta}, a_k^* b_l^* \mathbf{1}_{\zeta} \rangle \right)$$
$$= i \lim_{t \to 0} \frac{1}{t} \left( \sum_{k,l} \mu_k \mathbf{v}_l \langle (b_l a_k \sigma_t(a_k^* b_l^*) \mathbf{1}_{\zeta}, \mathbf{1}_{\zeta} \rangle - 1 \right)$$

We shall now show:  $\lim_{t\to 0} \frac{1}{t} (\sum_{k,l} \mu_k \mathbf{v}_l \langle b_l a_k \sigma_t(a_k^* b_l^*) \mathbf{1}_{\zeta}, \mathbf{1}_{\zeta} \rangle - \sum_{k,l} \mu_k \mathbf{v}_l \langle b_l \sigma_t(b_l^*) \sigma_t(a_k^*) \mathbf{1}_{\zeta}, \mathbf{1}_{\zeta} \rangle) = 0.$ 

Let  $y_t = a_k \sigma(a_k^*)$ . Note that  $y_t \to a_k a_k^*$  as  $t \to 0$ , in SOT. We have:

$$y_t \sigma_t(b_l^*) - \sigma_t(b_l^*) y_t = y_t \sigma_t(b_l^*) - y_t b_l^* + y_t b_l^* - \sigma_t(b_l^*) y_t$$
$$= y_t (\sigma_t(b_l^*) - b_l^*) + (y_t b_l^* - b_l^* y_t) + (b_l^* - \sigma_t(b_l^*)) y_t$$

Now,

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{1}{t} (\sum_{k,l} \mu_k \mathbf{v}_l \langle (y_l b_l^* - b_l^* y_l) \mathbf{1}_{\zeta}, b_l^* \mathbf{1}_{\zeta} \rangle &= \frac{1}{t} (\sum_{k,l} \mu_k \mathbf{v}_l \langle b_l y_l b_l^* \mathbf{1}_{\zeta}, \mathbf{1}_{\zeta} \rangle - \frac{1}{t} \langle \sum_{k,l} \mu_k \mathbf{v}_l \langle y_l \mathbf{1}_{\zeta}, b_l b_l^* \mathbf{1}_{\zeta} \rangle \\ &= \frac{1}{t} \sum_k \mu_k \langle (\sum_l \mathbf{v}_l b_l y_l b_l^*) \mathbf{1}_{\zeta}, \mathbf{1}_{\zeta} \rangle - \frac{1}{t} \sum_k \langle y_l \mathbf{1}_{\zeta}, \mathbf{1}_{\zeta} \rangle \\ &= \frac{1}{t} \sum_k \langle y_l \mathbf{1}_{\zeta}, \mathbf{1}_{\zeta} \rangle - \frac{1}{t} \sum_k \langle y_l \mathbf{1}_{\zeta}, \mathbf{1}_{\zeta} \rangle = 0 (Stationarity). \end{aligned}$$

Also,  $\lim_{t \to 0} \frac{1}{t} (y_t(\sigma_t(b_l^*) - b_l^*)) \text{ exists, and hence } \lim_{t \to 0} \frac{1}{t} (\sum_{k,l} \mu_k v_l \langle b_l a_k \sigma_t(a_k^* b_l^*) 1_{\zeta}, 1_{\zeta} \rangle - \sum_{k,l} \mu_k v_l \langle b_l \sigma_t(b_l^*) \sigma_t(a_k^*) 1_{\zeta}, 1_{\zeta} \rangle = 0$ . So, we get that:

$$\begin{split} h_{\varphi*\psi}(M \subset \mathscr{A}, \zeta) &= i \lim_{t \to 0} \frac{1}{t} (\sum_{k,l} \mu_k \mathbf{v}_l \langle (b_l \sigma_t(b_l^*) a_k \sigma_t(a_k^*) - 1) \mathbf{1}_{\zeta}, \mathbf{1}_{\zeta} \rangle \\ &= i \lim_{t \to 0} \frac{1}{t} (\sum_{k,l} \mu_k \mathbf{v}_l [ \langle (b_l \sigma_t(b_l^*) - 1) \mathbf{1}_{\zeta}, \mathbf{1}_{\zeta} \rangle \\ &+ \langle (a_k \sigma_t(a_k^*) - 1) \mathbf{1}_{\zeta}, \mathbf{1}_{\zeta} \rangle \\ &+ \langle (a_k \sigma_t(a_k^*) - 1) \mathbf{1}_{\zeta}, (b_l \sigma_t(b_l^*) - 1)^* \mathbf{1}_{\zeta} \rangle] \end{split}$$

The first term equals  $h_{\varphi}(M \subset \mathscr{A}, \zeta)$ , while second term equals  $h_{\psi}(M \subset \mathscr{A}, \zeta)$ , and the third term equals zero, as  $\lim_{t \to 0} \frac{1}{t} (a_k \sigma_t(a_k^*) - 1) \mathbf{1}_{\zeta}$  exists, while  $\lim_{t \to 0} \sum_l v_l (b_l \sigma_t(b_l^*) - 1)^* \mathbf{1}_{\zeta} = 0$ 

**Corollary 3.3.11.** Let  $\varphi \in \mathscr{S}_{\tau}(\mathscr{B}(L^2(M, \tau)))$  be a regular normal hyperstate and suppose  $\mathscr{A}$  is a  $C^*$ -algebra with  $M \subset \mathscr{A}$ , and  $\zeta \in S_{\tau}(\mathscr{A})$  is a faithful hyperstate  $\varphi$ -stationary hyperstate, then for  $n \geq 1$  we have

$$h_{arphi^{st n}}(M\subset \mathscr{A},\zeta)=nh_{arphi}(M\subset \mathscr{A},\zeta).$$

Lemma 3.3.12.  $h_{\varphi}(M \subset \mathscr{A}, \zeta) \leq H(\varphi)$ 

*Proof.* Let  $\mathscr{P}_{\varphi}(T) = \sum_{k} \mu_{k} b_{k} T b_{k}^{*}$ . Let  $a_{k} = J b_{k} J \in M$ . It follows from 3.3.7 that

$$H(\boldsymbol{\varphi}) = -\lim_{t \to 0+} \frac{\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \mu_k ||A_{\boldsymbol{\varphi}}^{t/2} a_k^* \mathbf{1}_{\tau}||^2 - ||a_k^* \mathbf{1}_{\tau}||^2}{t}.$$

So by corollary 3.3.8 it's enough to show that

$$\lim_{t \to 0+} \frac{\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \mu_k ||A_{\varphi}^{t/2} a_k^* 1_{\tau}||^2 - ||a_k^* 1_{\tau}||^2}{t} \leq \lim_{t \to 0+} \frac{\sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \mu_k ||\Delta_{\varphi}^{t/2} e a_k^* 1_{\tau}||^2 - ||ea_k^* 1_{\tau}||^2}{t}.$$

So, it's enough to show that

$$||A_{\varphi}^{t/2}a_{k}1_{\tau}||^{2} \leq ||\Delta_{\zeta}^{t/2}a_{k}1_{\zeta}||^{2}$$

Define  $T: L^2(\mathscr{A}, \zeta) \to L^2(M, \tau)$  by  $T(a1_{\zeta}) = \mathscr{P}_{\zeta}(a)1_{\tau}$ . Then ||T|| = 1, as  $||T(1_{\zeta})|| = 1$  and  $||\mathscr{P}_{\zeta}|| \le 1$ . *T* takes  $\mathscr{D}(\Delta_{\zeta})$  into  $\mathscr{D}(A_{\varphi}) = L^2(M, \tau)$ . By lemma 3.3.6 it's enough to show:

$$||A_{\varphi}^{1/2}T\xi|| \leq ||\Delta^{1/2}\xi||$$
 for all  $\xi \in \mathscr{D}(\Delta)$ .

In fact it's enough to show the above for all vectors in a core for  $\mathscr{D}(\Delta)$ . Recall that  $\mathscr{A}_{1\zeta}$  forms a core for  $\mathscr{D}(\Delta)$ . So, we only need to show

$$||A_{\varphi}^{1/2}Ta1_{\zeta}|| \le ||\Delta^{1/2}a1_{\zeta}||$$

Now we have:

$$\begin{split} ||\Delta^{1/2}a1_{\zeta}||^{2} &= \langle \Delta^{1/2}a1_{\zeta}, \Delta^{1/2}a1_{\zeta} \rangle = \langle JSa1_{\zeta}, JSa1_{\zeta} \rangle \\ &= \langle Ja^{*}1_{\zeta}, Ja^{*}1_{\zeta} \rangle = \langle a^{*}1_{\zeta}, a^{*}1_{\zeta} \rangle = \zeta (aa^{*}) \\ &= \langle \mathscr{P}_{\zeta}(aa^{*})1_{\tau}, 1_{\tau} \rangle \end{split}$$

We also have  $\mathscr{P}_{\varphi} \circ \mathscr{P}_{\zeta} = \mathscr{P}_{\zeta} \implies \varphi \circ \mathscr{P}_{\zeta} = \zeta$ . Now:

$$\begin{split} ||A_{\varphi}^{1/2}Ta1_{\zeta}||^{2} &= \langle A_{\varphi}^{1/2}\mathscr{P}_{\zeta}(a)1_{\tau}, A_{\varphi}^{1/2}\mathscr{P}_{\zeta}(a)1_{\tau} \rangle = \langle A_{\varphi}\mathscr{P}_{\zeta}(a)1_{\tau}, \mathscr{P}_{\zeta}(a)1_{\tau} \rangle \\ &= \langle \mathscr{P}_{\zeta}(a)^{*}A_{\varphi}\mathscr{P}_{\zeta}(a)1_{\tau}, 1_{\tau} \rangle \leq Tr(\mathscr{P}_{\zeta}(a)^{*}A_{\varphi}\mathscr{P}_{\zeta}) \\ &= Tr(A_{\varphi}\mathscr{P}_{\zeta}(a)\mathscr{P}_{\zeta}(a^{*})) \leq Tr(A_{\varphi}\mathscr{P}_{\zeta}(aa^{*}) \\ &= \langle \Phi \circ \mathscr{P}_{\zeta}(aa^{*})1_{\tau}, 1_{\tau} \rangle = \langle \mathscr{P}_{\zeta}(aa^{*})1_{\tau}, 1_{\tau} \rangle \\ &= \zeta(aa^{*}) = ||\Delta^{1/2}a1_{\zeta}||^{2}. \end{split}$$

Hence we are done.

**Corollary 3.3.13.**  $h_{\varphi}(M \subset \mathscr{A}, \zeta) \leq h(\varphi)$ 

*Proof.* By lemma 3.3.12, we have that  $h_{\varphi^{*n}}(M \subset \mathscr{A}, \zeta) \leq H(\varphi^{*n})$ . By corollary 3.3.11 we have that  $h_{\varphi^{*n}}(M \subset \mathscr{A}, \zeta) = nh_{\varphi}(M \subset \mathscr{A}, \zeta)$ . So we get,

$$h_{\varphi}(M \subset \mathscr{A}, \zeta) \leq rac{H(\varphi^{*n})}{n} \to h(\varphi).$$

**Lemma 3.3.14.**  $h_{\varphi}(M \subset \mathscr{A}, \zeta) = 0$  if and only if there exists a  $\zeta$  preserving conditional expectation from  $\mathscr{A}$  to M.

*Proof.* Let  $\mathscr{E} : \mathscr{A} \to M$  be a  $\zeta$  preserving conditional expectation. Then, we know that  $\sigma_t^{\zeta}(m) = m$ 

for all  $m \in M$ . Hence,

$$h_{\varphi}(M \subset \mathscr{A}, \zeta) = i \lim_{t \to 0} \frac{1}{t} \sum_{k} \langle (\Delta^{it} - 1) a_{k}^{*} 1_{\zeta}, a_{k}^{*} 1_{\zeta} \rangle$$
$$= i \lim_{t \to 0} \frac{1}{t} \sum_{k} \langle \sigma_{t}(a_{k}^{*}) 1_{\zeta}, a_{k}^{*} 1_{\zeta} \rangle - 1 = 0$$

Conversely, suppose  $h_{\varphi}(M \subset \mathscr{A}, \zeta) = 0$ . Let  $\Delta_{\zeta} = \Delta$  and let  $\Delta = \int_{0}^{\infty} \lambda d\lambda$  be it's spectral resolution. Let  $\Delta_{n} = \int_{1/n}^{n} \lambda d\lambda$ ,  $n \ge 1$  be the truncations. We know that  $\Delta_{n}$  converges to  $\Delta$  in the resolvent sense. As usual, we denote by *e* the projection from  $L^{2}(\mathscr{A}, \zeta)$  to  $L^{2}(M, \tau)$ . We have that  $I = e\Delta e \ge e\Delta_{n}e$ for all *n*. So,  $(I+t)^{-1} \le (e\Delta_{n}e+t)^{-1} \le e(\Delta_{n}+t)^{-1}e$  for all *n* and for all t > 0. Taking limits as  $n \to \infty$ , we get  $(I+t)^{-1} \le e(\Delta+t)^{-1}e$ . Now we shall use the following integral representation of log:

$$\log(x) = \int_0^\infty [(1+t)^{-1} - (x+t)^{-1}]dt$$

So that :

$$h_{\varphi}(M \subset \mathscr{A}, \zeta) = -\int_0^\infty \sum_k \langle e[(I+t)^{-1} - (\Delta+t)^{-1}] ea_k^* \mathbf{1}_{\tau}, a_k^* \mathbf{1}_{\tau} \rangle.$$

From  $h_{\varphi}(M \subset \mathscr{A}, \zeta) = 0$  and above discussion, we deduce that:

$$(I+t)^{-1}a_k^*1_{\zeta} = (\Delta+t)^{-1}a_k^*1_{\zeta}$$

for almost all t > 0, and hence by continuity, for all t > 0. This implies that  $\Delta^{it} a_k^* \mathbf{1}_{\zeta} = a_k^* \mathbf{1}_{\zeta}$ , which implies that  $\sigma_t^{\zeta}(m) = m$  for all  $m \in M$ , as  $\varphi$  is generating. But this implies the existence of a  $\zeta$ preserving conditional expectation from  $\mathscr{A}$  to M.

**Corollary 3.3.15.** Har $(\mathscr{B}(L^2M, \tau), \mathscr{P}_{\varphi}) = M$  if and only if  $h_{\varphi}(M \subset \mathscr{B}_{\varphi}, \zeta) = 0$ , where  $\mathscr{B}_{\varphi}$  denotes the Poisson boundary with respect to  $\varphi$ .

*Proof.* If  $h_{\varphi}(M \subset \mathscr{B}, \zeta) = 0$ , then by lemma 3.3.14 there exists a conditional expectation  $\mathscr{E} : \mathscr{B} \to \mathscr{B}$ 

*M*, given by  $\mathscr{E}(b) = ebe = \mathscr{P}(b)$ . So,

$$\operatorname{Har}(\mathscr{P}_{\varphi}) = \mathscr{P}(\mathscr{B}_{\varphi}) = M.$$

Conversely, if  $\operatorname{Har}(\mathscr{B}(L^2M,\tau),\mathscr{P}_{\varphi}) = M$  then  $\Delta_{\zeta} = I$  and hence  $h_{\varphi}(M \subset \mathscr{B}_{\varphi},\zeta) = 0$   $\Box$ 

**Corollary 3.3.16.**  $\operatorname{Har}(\mathscr{P}_{\varphi}) = M$  if  $h(\varphi) = 0$ 

*Proof.* Since  $0 \le h_{\varphi}(M \subset \mathscr{B}_{\varphi}, \zeta) \le h(\varphi)$ , this result follows from the previous corollary 3.3.15.

## 3.4 An entropy gap for property (T) factors

If  $(M, \tau)$  is a tracial von Neumann algebra, then a Hilbert *M*-bimodule consists of a Hilbert space  $\mathscr{H}$ , together with commuting normal representations  $L: M \to \mathscr{B}(\mathscr{H}), R: M^{\text{op}} \to \mathscr{B}(\mathscr{H})$ . We will sometimes simplify notation by writing  $x\xi y$  for the vector  $L(x)R(y^{\text{op}})\xi$ . A vector  $\xi \in \mathscr{H}$ is left (resp. right) tracial if  $\langle x\xi, \xi \rangle = \tau(x)$  (resp.  $\langle \xi x, \xi \rangle = \tau(x)$ ) for all  $x \in M$ . A vector is bi-tracial if it is both left and right tracial. A vector  $\xi$  is left (resp. right) bounded if there exists C > 0 so that  $||x\xi|| \le c ||x||_2$  (resp.  $||\xi x|| \le C ||x||_2$ ) for all  $x \in M$ . We denote by  ${}^{o}\mathscr{H}$  (resp.  $\mathscr{H}^{o}$ ) the subspace of all left (resp. right) bounded vectors, we let  ${}^{o}\mathscr{H}^{o} = {}^{o}\mathscr{H} \cap \mathscr{H}^{o}$  be the (dense [Pop86, Theorem...]) subspace of left and right bounded vectors. A vector  $\xi \in \mathscr{H}$  is central if  $x\xi = \xi x$  for all  $x \in M$ . Note that if  $\xi$  is a unit central vector then  $x \mapsto \langle x\xi, \xi \rangle$  gives a normal trace on M.

Suppose  $M \subset \mathscr{A}$  is an inclusion of von Neumann algebras and  $\varphi \in \mathscr{A}_*$  is a hyperstate. We may then consider the Hilbert space  $L^2(\mathscr{A}, \varphi)$  which is naturally a Hilbert *M*-bimodule where the left action is given by left multiplication  $L(x)\hat{a} = \hat{x}\hat{a}$ , and the right action is given by  $R(x^{op}) = Jx^*J$ . In this case the vector  $\hat{1}$  is clearly left tracial, and we also have  $Jx^*J\hat{1} = \Delta^{1/2}x\hat{1}$  from which it follows easily that  $\hat{1}$  is also right tracial. If  $\xi_0 \in L^2(\mathscr{A}, \varphi)$  is a unit central vector, then  $\tau_0(x) = \langle x\xi_0, \xi_0 \rangle$ defines a normal trace on *M*. We let  $s \in \mathscr{Z}(M)$  denote the support of  $\tau_0$ .

The von Neumann algebra *M* has property (T) if for any sequence of Hilbert bimodules  $\mathscr{H}_n$ , and  $\xi_n \in \mathscr{H}_n$  bi-triacial vectors, such that  $||x\xi_n - \xi_n x|| \to 0$  for all  $x \in M$ , then we have  $||\xi_n - P_0(\xi_n)|| \to 0$ 

0, where  $P_0$  is the projection onto the space of central vectors. This is independent of the normal faithful trace  $\tau$  [Pop06, Proposition 4.1]. Property (T) was first introduced in the factor case by Connes and Jones [CJ85] where they showed that for an ICC group  $\Gamma$ , the group von Neumann algebra  $L\Gamma$  has property (T) if and only if  $\Gamma$  has Kazhdan's property (T) [Kaž67]. Their proof works equally well in the general case when  $\Gamma$  is not necessarily ICC.

We now fix a normal hyperstate  $\varphi$  on  $\mathscr{B}(L^2(M, \tau))$  and we take  $\{a_k\}_k^n \subset M$  with  $n \in \mathbb{N} \cup \{\infty\}$  so that  $\sum_{k=1}^n a_k^* a_k = 1$  and  $\varphi(T) = \sum_{k=1}^n \langle T \widehat{a_k^*}, \widehat{a_k^*} \rangle$  for  $T \in \mathscr{B}(L^2(M, \tau))$ . For a fixed Hilbert bimodule  $\mathscr{H}$  we define  $\nabla_L, \nabla_R : \mathscr{H}^o \to \mathscr{H}^{\oplus n}$  by

$$abla_L(\xi) = \oplus a_k \xi$$

$$\nabla_R(\xi) = \oplus \xi a_k$$

Note that we have

$$\|\nabla_L(\xi)\|^2 = \sum_{k=1}^n \|a_k\xi\|^2 = \left\langle \sum_{k=1}^n a_k^* a_k\xi, \xi \right\rangle = \|\xi\|^2.$$

Also, if  $\xi \in \mathscr{H}^o$  is such that  $\|\xi x\| \leq C \|x\|_2$ , then we similarly have that  $\|\nabla_R(\xi)\|^2 \leq C^2$ .

**Definition 3.4.1.** A tracial von Neumann algebra M together with a hyperstate  $\varphi$  is said to have an entropy gap, if there exists a constant  $\varepsilon = \varepsilon(M, \varphi)$  such that for any stationary space  $(\mathscr{A}, \zeta)$ the Furstenberg entropy is atleast  $\varepsilon$ .

We shall show that if *M* has property (T) in the sense of Connes and Jones, then  $(M, \varphi)$  has an entropy gap for any regular, symmetric hyperstate.

**Lemma 3.4.2.** Let  $(\mathscr{A}, \varphi_0)$  be a stationary space. Define  $T : L^2(\mathscr{A}, \zeta) \to L^2(\mathscr{A}, \zeta)$  by :

$$T(\xi) = (\sum_{k} L_{a_k^*} R_{a_k})(\xi)$$

Then  $h_{\varphi}(\mathscr{A}, \zeta) \geq -2\log\langle T1_{\zeta}, 1_{\zeta} \rangle.$ 

*Proof.* Note that,  $L_{a_k^*}R_{a_k}1_{\zeta} = a_k^*\Delta^{1/2}a_k1_{\zeta}$ . Now,

$$\begin{split} -2\log\langle T1_{\zeta},1_{\zeta}\rangle &= -2\log(\sum_{k}\langle L_{a_{k}^{*}}R_{a_{k}}\hat{1},\hat{1}\rangle) \\ &= -2\log(\sum_{k}\langle a_{k}^{*}\Delta^{1/2}a_{k}\hat{1},\hat{1}\rangle) = -2\log(\lim_{n\to\infty}\sum_{k}\langle a_{k}^{*}\Delta_{n}^{1/2}a_{k}\hat{1},\hat{1}\rangle) \\ &= -2\lim_{n\to\infty}\log(\sum_{k}\langle a_{k}^{*}\Delta_{n}^{1/2}a_{k}\hat{1},\hat{1}\rangle) \\ &\leq \lim_{n\to\infty}\sum_{k}\langle a_{k}^{*}\log(\Delta_{n})a_{k}\hat{1},\hat{1}\rangle = h_{\varphi}(\mathscr{A},\zeta), \end{split}$$

where the last inequality follows from Jensen's operator inequality.

**Lemma 3.4.3.** 
$$\langle T1_{\zeta}, 1_{\zeta} \rangle \le ||T|| \le 1.$$

*Proof.* Let  $\nabla_L$  and  $\nabla_R$  be defined as before, for the Hilbert bimodule  $L^2(\mathscr{A}, \zeta)$ . Then:

$$egin{aligned} &\langle 
abla_R^* 
abla_L(\psi), \eta 
angle &= \sum_k \langle a_k \psi, \eta a_k 
angle \ &= \sum_k \langle a_k \psi a_k^*, \eta 
angle = \langle T(\psi), \eta 
angle. \end{aligned}$$

We also have:

$$egin{aligned} &\langle 
abla_L^* 
abla_L(\psi), \eta 
angle &= \sum_k \langle a_k \psi, a_k \eta 
angle \ &= \sum_k \langle a_k^* a_k \psi, \eta 
angle = \langle \sum_k a_k^* a_k \psi, \eta 
angle = \langle \psi, \eta 
angle, \end{aligned}$$

and:

$$\langle 
abla_R^* 
abla_R(\psi), \eta 
angle = \sum_k \langle \psi a_k, \eta a_k 
angle$$
  
=  $\sum_k \langle \psi a_k a_k^*, \eta 
angle = \langle \sum_k \psi a_k a_k^*, \eta 
angle = \langle \psi, \eta 
angle.$ 

So,  $||T|| \le ||\nabla_L|| \cdot ||\nabla_R|| \le 1$ .

Remark: The operator *T* is unambiguously defined.

# **Lemma 3.4.4.** If *M* has property (*T*) then $\langle T1_{\zeta}, 1_{\zeta} \rangle \leq c < 1$ where *c* is independent of $(\mathscr{A}, \zeta)$

*Proof.* We already showed that  $\langle T1_{\zeta}, 1_{\zeta} \rangle \leq 1$ . Suppose that there exists (stationary) spaces  $(\mathscr{A}, \zeta_n)$ , such that  $\langle T1_{\zeta_n}, 1_{\zeta_n} \rangle \to 1$ . Since  $1_{\zeta_n}$  are bi-tracial vectors, satisfying  $||a_k 1_{\zeta_n} - 1_{\zeta_n} a_k|| \to 0$  (by convexity of Hilbert spaces), we get that there exists a central vector  $\psi$  (since  $a_k$ 's generate M and M has property (T).)The rest follows easily.

# 3.5 Rigidity for u.c.p. maps on the boundary

**Theorem 3.5.1.** Suppose we have an intermediate von Neumann algebra  $M \subset \mathscr{C} \subset \mathscr{B}$ , and  $\Psi$ :  $\mathscr{C} \to \mathscr{B}$  is a normal unital completely positive map such that  $\Psi_{|M} = \mathrm{id}$ , then  $\Psi = \mathrm{id}$ .

*Proof.* By identifying  $\mathscr{C}$  with  $\mathscr{P}(\mathscr{C})$  we may assume that  $\phi : \mathscr{C} \to \operatorname{Har}(\mathscr{P}_{\varphi})$  is a normal unital completely positive map such that  $\Psi_{|M} = \operatorname{id}$ . Under this identification,  $\mathscr{C}$  is a weakly closed *M*-sub bimodule of  $\operatorname{Har}(\mathscr{P}_{\varphi})$ . Note that for  $T \in \mathscr{C}$  we have,

$$\begin{split} \langle \Psi(T) \mathbf{1}_{\tau}, \mathbf{1}_{\tau} \rangle &= \langle \mathscr{P}_{\varphi}(\Psi(T)) \mathbf{1}_{\tau}, \mathbf{1}_{\tau} \rangle = \langle \mathscr{P}_{\varphi}^{o}(\Psi(T)) \mathbf{1}_{\tau}, \mathbf{1}_{\tau} \rangle \\ &= \sum_{n} \langle z_{n} \Psi(T) z_{n}^{*} \mathbf{1}_{\tau}, \mathbf{1}_{\tau} \rangle = \langle \Psi(\mathscr{P}_{\varphi}^{o}(T)) \mathbf{1}_{\tau}, \mathbf{1}_{\tau} \rangle. \end{split}$$

Where the last equality follows from the fact that  $\Psi$  is normal and *M*-bimodular. So we get that  $\langle \Psi(\mathscr{P}^o_{\varphi}(T))1_{\tau}, 1_{\tau} \rangle = \langle \Psi(T)1_{\tau}, 1_{\tau} \rangle$  for all  $T \in C$ , which immediately implies that

$$\langle \Psi(\frac{1}{N}\sum_{n=1}^{N}(\mathscr{P}_{\varphi}^{o})^{n}(T))1_{\tau},1_{\tau}\rangle = \langle \Psi(T)1_{\tau},1_{\tau}\rangle$$
 for all  $T \in C$ .

Let z be a weak operator topology limit point of  $\frac{1}{N}\sum_{n=1}^{N}(\mathscr{P}_{\varphi}^{o})^{n}(T)$ . Then,  $z \in \mathscr{Z}(M)$  by theorem 3.2.1. So,  $\Psi(z) = z$ , and we get that

$$\langle \Psi(T) \mathbf{1}_{\tau}, \mathbf{1}_{\tau} \rangle = \langle z \mathbf{1}_{\tau}, \mathbf{1}_{\tau} \rangle = \langle T \mathbf{1}_{\tau}, \mathbf{1}_{\tau} \rangle$$

where the last equality follows because *z* is independent of  $\Psi$ . Now, let  $a, b \in M$ , and  $T \in \mathscr{C}$ . Then, we have that  $b^*Ta \in \mathscr{C}$ , and hence by above computation, we get:

$$\langle \Psi(T)a1_{\tau}, b1_{\tau} \rangle = \langle \Psi(b^*Ta)1_{\tau}, 1_{\tau} \rangle = \langle b^*Ta1_{\tau}, 1_{\tau} \rangle = \langle Ta1_{\tau}, b1_{\tau} \rangle$$

and hence  $\Psi(T) = T$ 

Theorem 3.5.1 should be compared with Theorem 3.2 in [CP13] where this is established for crossed products of commutative Poisson boundaries.

**Corollary 3.5.2.** Suppose  $M_i$  is a  $II_1$  factor for  $i \in \{1,2\}$ , and  $\varphi_i$  be regular, generating hyperstates (for  $M_i$  on  $B(L^2M_i)$ ). Then,

$$\operatorname{Har}(\mathscr{P}_{\varphi_1} \otimes \mathscr{P}_{\varphi_2}) = \operatorname{Har}(\mathscr{P}_{\varphi_1}) \overline{\otimes} \operatorname{Har}(\mathscr{P}_{\varphi_2}).$$

*Proof.* We clearly have  $\operatorname{Har}(\mathscr{P}_{\varphi_1}) \overline{\otimes} \operatorname{Har}(\mathscr{P}_{\varphi_2}) \subset \operatorname{Har}(\mathscr{P}_{\varphi_1} \otimes \mathscr{P}_{\varphi_2})$  so we only need to show the reverse inclusion. Note that

$$(\mathscr{P}_{\varphi_1} \otimes \mathrm{id}) \circ (\mathscr{P}_{\varphi_1} \otimes \mathscr{P}_{\varphi_2}) = (\mathscr{P}_{\varphi_1} \otimes \mathscr{P}_{\varphi_2}) \circ (\mathscr{P}_{\varphi_1} \otimes \mathrm{id}),$$

hence  $(\mathscr{P}_{\varphi_1} \otimes \mathrm{id})_{|\operatorname{Har}(\mathscr{P}_{\varphi_1} \otimes \mathscr{P}_{\varphi_2})}$  gives a normal ucp map which restricts to the identity on  $M_1 \overline{\otimes} M_2$ . By Theorem 3.5.1 we have that  $(\mathscr{P}_{\varphi_1} \otimes \mathrm{id})_{|\operatorname{Har}(\mathscr{P}_{\varphi_1} \otimes \mathscr{P}_{\varphi_2})}$  is the identity map and hence

$$\operatorname{Har}(\mathscr{P}_{\varphi_1}\otimes\mathscr{P}_{\varphi_2})\subset\operatorname{Har}(\mathscr{P}_{\varphi_1}\otimes\operatorname{id})=\operatorname{Har}(\mathscr{P}_{\varphi_1})\overline{\otimes}\mathscr{B}(L^2M_2).$$

We similarly have

$$\operatorname{Har}(\mathscr{P}_{\varphi_1}\otimes \mathscr{P}_{\varphi_2})\subset \mathscr{B}(L^2M_1)\overline{\otimes}\operatorname{Har}(\mathscr{P}_{\varphi_2}).$$

Since  $\operatorname{Har}(\mathscr{P}_{\varphi_1})$  is injective it is semidiscrete [Con76a], and hence has property  $S_{\sigma}$  of Kraus

$$\operatorname{Har}(\phi_1 \otimes \phi_2) \subset (\operatorname{Har}(\mathscr{P}_{\varphi_1}) \overline{\otimes} \mathscr{B}(L^2 M_2)) \cap (\mathscr{B}(L^2 M_1) \overline{\otimes} \operatorname{Har}(\mathscr{P}_{\varphi_2})) \subset \operatorname{Har}(\mathscr{P}_{\varphi_1}) \overline{\otimes} \operatorname{Har}(\mathscr{P}_{\varphi_2}).$$

**Corollary 3.5.3.** Let *M* be a  $II_1$  factor, and let  $\varphi$  be a regular, generating hyperstate. Then, *M* is a maximal type  $II_1$  factor inside  $\mathscr{B}_{\varphi}$ .

*Proof.* Suppose  $N \subset \mathscr{B}_{\varphi}$  is a type  $H_1$  factor containing M. Then there exists a normal conditional expectation  $E: N \to M$ . Hence, by theorem 3.5.1, E(n) = n for all  $n \in N$ , and hence N = M.  $\Box$ 

#### BIBLIOGRAPHY

- [Bha99] B. V. Rajarama Bhat, Minimal dilations of quantum dynamical semigroups to semigroups of endomorphisms of C\*-algebras, J. Ramanujan Math. Soc. 14 (1999), no. 2, 109–124.
- [BJKW00] Ola Bratteli, Palle E.T. Jorgensen, Akitaka Kishimoto, and Reinhard F. Werner, *Pure states on*  $\mathcal{O}_d$ , J. Operator Theory **43** (2000), 97–143.
  - [CE77] Man Duen Choi and Edward G. Effros, *Injectivity and operator spaces*, J. Functional Analysis 24 (1977), no. 2, 156–209.
  - [Chr78] Erik Christensen, Extension of derivations, Journal of Functional Analysis 27 (1978), no. 2, 234 – 247.
  - [CJ85] A. Connes and V. Jones, Property T for von Neumann algebras, Bull. London Math. Soc. 17 (1985), no. 1, 57–62.
- [Con76a] A. Connes, Classification of injective factors. Cases  $II_1, II_{\infty}, III_{\lambda}, \lambda \neq 1$ , Ann. of Math. (2) **104** (1976), no. 1, 73–115.
- [Con76b] \_\_\_\_\_, On the classification of von Neumann algebras and their automorphisms, Sympos.
   Math. 20 (1976), 435–478.
  - [CP13] Darren Creutz and Jesse Peterson, Character rigidity for lattices and commensurators, arXiv:1311.4513, 2013.
  - [DP17] Sayan Das and Jesse Peterson, *Poisson boundaries of finite von neumann algebras*, in preparation, 2017.
- [FNW94] M. Fannes, B. Nachtergaele, and R.F. Werner, *Finitely correlated pure states*, J.Funct.Anal. 120 (1994), 511–534.
  - [Fur63] Harry Furstenberg, *A Poisson formula for semi-simple Lie groups*, Ann. of Math. (2) **77** (1963), 335–386.

- [Izu99] Masaki Izumi, Actions of compact quantum groups on operator algebras, XIIth International Congress of Mathematical Physics (ICMP '97) (Brisbane), Int. Press, Cambridge, MA, 1999, pp. 249–253.
- [Izu02] \_\_\_\_\_, Non-commutative Poisson boundaries and compact quantum group actions, Adv. Math. **169** (2002), no. 1, 1–57.
- [Izu04] \_\_\_\_\_, Non-commutative Poisson boundaries, Discrete geometric analysis, Contemp. Math., vol. 347, Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 2004, pp. 69–81.
- [Izu12] \_\_\_\_\_, *E*<sub>0</sub>-semigroups: Around and beyond Arveson's work, preprint, arXiv:1209.5838, 2012.
- [Jon00] V. F. R. Jones, *Ten problems*, Mathematics: frontiers and perspectives, Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 2000, pp. 79–91.
- [Kai03] Vadim A. Kaimanovich, Double ergodicity of the poisson boundary and applications to bounded cohomology, Geometric & Functional Analysis GAFA 13 (2003), no. 4, 852–861.
- [Kaž67] D. A. Každan, On the connection of the dual space of a group with the structure of its closed subgroups, Funkcional. Anal. i Priložen. 1 (1967), 71–74.
- [Kra91] Jon Kraus, *The slice map problem and approximation properties*, Journal of Functional Analysis 102 (1991), no. 1, 116 – 155.
- [KV83] V. A. Kaĭmanovich and A. M. Vershik, Random walks on discrete groups: boundary and entropy, Ann. Probab. 11 (1983), no. 3, 457–490.
- [Mar78] G. A. Margulis, Factor groups of discrete subgroups and measure theory, Funktsional. Anal. i Prilozhen. 12 (1978), no. 4, 64–76.
- [Mar79] \_\_\_\_\_, *Finiteness of quotient groups of discrete subgroups*, Funktsional. Anal. i Prilozhen. **13** (1979), no. 3, 28–39.
- [Mos73] G. D. Mostow, Strong rigidity of locally symmetric spaces, Princeton University Press, Princeton, N.J., 1973, Annals of Mathematics Studies, No. 78.

- [Pop86] Sorin Popa, Correspondences, unpublished, 1986, INCREST preprint.
- [Pop00] Sorin Popa, On the relative dixmier property for inclusions of c\*-algebras, Journal of Functional Analysis 171 (2000), no. 1, 139 – 154.
- [Pop06] Sorin Popa, On a class of type II<sub>1</sub> factors with Betti numbers invariants, Ann. of Math. (2) 163
   (2006), no. 3, 809–899.
- [Pru09] Bebe Prunaru, *Lifting fixed points of completely positive mappings*, Journal of Mathematical Analysis and Applications **350** (2009), no. 1, 333 339.
- [Zim80] Robert J. Zimmer, *Strong rigidity for ergodic actions of semisimple Lie groups*, Ann. of Math.(2) **112** (1980), no. 3, 511–529.